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Count III of Plaintiffs’ complaint for dam-
ages under § 504, and the motion to strike
Plaintiffs’ request for jury trial (Docket No.
38) be granted as it relates to Plaintiffs’
claim for damages under the IDEA and be
denied as it relates to Plaintiffs’ claim for
damages under § 504.

DONE and ORDERED.

W
O £ KEY NUMBER SYSTEM
T

In re E.I. DU PONT DE NEMOURS
AND COMPANY-—Benlate®
Litigation.

The BUSH RANCH, INC., a Georgia cor-
poration, and William R. Lawson, Indi-
vidually, Yellow River Growers, a part-
nership whose partners are Roy Phillip
Barber, Carol H. Barber and Gregory
Phillip Barber, and Carol H. Barber,
and C. Raker & Sons, Inc., a Michigan
corporation, Petitioners,

V.

E.I. DU PONT DE NEMOURS AND
COMPANY, a Delaware corpo-
ration, Respondent.

No. 4:95-cv-36 (JRE).

United States District Court,
M.D. Georgia,
Columbus Division.

Aug. 21, 1995.

In products liability action involving
claims that fungicide was contaminated with
herbicides, plaintiffs sought imposition of
sanctions based on defendant’s discovery
abuses and violations of court orders by fail-
ing to disclose test data that was central to
plaintiffs’ claims and that defendant had
agreed to turn over to plaintiffs in return for
access to plaintiffs’ property to conduct tests.
The District Court, Elliott, J., held that evi-
dence established that defendant committed
fraud, discovery abuses, and violations of
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court’s orders warranting imposition of sane-
tion of $6.8 million for discovery abuses and
$100,000,000 for civil contempt, which con-
tempt could be purged by compliance with
court orders and publication of advertise-
ments acknowledging wrongdoing.

Ordered accordingly.

1. Contempt €=60(3)

Federal Civil Procedure ¢=1636.1, 2791,
2793

In products liability action against fun-
gicide manufacturer under theory that fun-
gicide was contaminated with herbicides,
evidence established that manufacturer
committed fraud, discovery abuses, and vio-
lations of court’s orders, particularly those
dealing with highly sophisticated test data
that otherwise was unavailable to plaintiffs
and was central to their claim that their
soil was contaminated with herbicides, and
manufacturer failed to show any sufficient
cause why it should not be sanctioned un-
der discovery rules and for civil contempt
for such conduct, despite its contentions
that it provided plaintiffs with summaries of
data, was not obligated under orders to
provide all data, or was not asked for data
that it withheld.

2. Contempt ¢=60(2)
Federal Civil Procedure €=1278, 2829

In determining whether defendant in
products liability action committed discovery
abuses or violated court orders so as to war-
rant imposition of discovery and contempt
sanctions, court would consider evidence
from other cases involving same defendant
and same product insofar as such evidence
was relevant to defendant’s conduct in in-
stant suit, and also for purpose of determin-
ing defendant’s intent, motive, and possible
pattern of misconduct.

3. Federal Civil
2756.1, 2791

In products liability suit, distriet court
had power, authority, and jurisdiction to in-
vestigate allegations of defendant’s fraud on
court and fraud on judicial system, particu-
larly where alleged fraud was accomplished

Procedure <¢=1636.1,
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by concealing from plaintiffs and their coun-
sel, expert witness, and court and jury highly
relevant and discoverable evidence, bearing
on most critical issue in case; where produec-
tion of such evidence was, pursuant to court
orders, subject to both initial and supplemen-
tal discovery requests, was required by
court’s orders, and had been promised by

deferndant’s chief executive officer, legal de-

partment, and trial counsel; where alleged
fraud ultimately involved knowing and willful
presentation to court and/or to jury of false
testimony and false argument; and where
alleged fraud involved presentation to court
of motion containing materially untrue state-
ments for purpose of, and with result of,
obtaining order from court vacating prior
findings of discovery misconduct and reliev-
ing defendant of obligation to pay monetary
sanctions. ‘

4. Contempt €=30, 60(3)
Federal Civil Procedure ¢=1278, 2756.1

If allegations of defendant’s discovery
abuses and fraud on the court in products
liability action were shown by clear and con-
vincing evidence to be true, court had power,
authority, and jurisdiction to sanction defen-
dant, to hold it in civil contempt, and other-
wise to act to enforce authority of court.

5. Contempt =30

Power to punish for contempt is inher-
ent in all courts; its existence is essential to
preservation of order in judicial proceedings,
and to enforcement of judgments, orders,
and writs of courts, and consequently to due
administration of justice.

6. C@ntempt‘ =30

Power to punish, as contempt, misbehav-
ior committed in presence of court is inher-
ent power.

7. Contempt =46 '

While Congress has not limited time
within which misbehavior committed in pres-
ence of court may be punished as contempt,
perhaps there is inherent limitation on inher-
ent contempt power arising out of laches—
punishment must not be unreasonably de-
layed.

8. Contempt &=4

Civil contempt has remedial purpose, not
least of which is to give force and vitality o
judicial decrees.

9. Constitutional Law ¢=305(3)
Federal Civil Procedure ¢=1278

Any sanction for violation of discovery
orders must be just, i.e., must comport with
requirements of due process, and certain
sanctions may only be imposed where district
court finds willful or bad faith failure to obey
discovery orders. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend.
14; Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 37(b)@2)XC), 28
US.CA.

10. Federal Civil Procedure ¢=1262.1

Obvious and overall purpose of discovery
under federal rules is to require disclosure of
all relevant information so that ultimate reso-
lution of disputed issues in any civil action
may be based on full and accurate under-
standing of true facts, and therefore embody
fair and just result.

11. Federal Civil Procedure ¢=1262.1

Discovery under federal rules is intend-
ed to operate with minimal judicial supervi-
sion unless dispute arises and one of parties
files motion invoking judicial intervention;
rules require that discovery be accomplished
voluntarily, i.e., that parties affirmatively dis-
close relevant information without necessity
of court orders compelling disclosure.

12. Attorney and Client &=32(14)

Under federal rules, it is obligation of
counsel as officers of court to cooperate with
one another so that: in pursuit of truth,
Jjudicial system operates as intended; neither
court nor litigants are put to unnecessary
trouble and expense in pursuit of truth; and
disputes are resolved on their merits as
promptly and economically as circumstances
of case permit,

13. Federal Civil Procedure ¢=2791

Litigant should not be allowed to play
games with court by concealing, denying, or
giving evasive answer to what he knows to be
true.
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14. Federal Civil Procedure ¢~1278

Federal rules dealing with discovery are
binding on parties, and they must comply
with their obligations under rules.

15. Attorney and Client &=32(7)

Attorneys have continuing duty to advise
their clients of their duty to make honest,
complete, non-evasive discovery disclosures,
as well as spectrum of sanctions they face for
violating such duty. FedRules Civ.Proc.
Rule 26(g), 28 U.S.C.A.

16. Attorney and Client €=32(7)

Federal rules require that counsel make
reasonable investigation and effort to ensure
that client has provided all information and
documents available to it which are respon-
sive to discovery request; counsel also must
certify that responses to discovery requests
are complete and correct, and that objections
are well grounded in fact and law and not
interposed for delay or other improper pur-
pose. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 26(g), 28
U.S.C.A.

17. Federal Civil Procedure ¢=2793

Courts broadly interpret what consti-
tutes “order” for purpose of imposing sanc-
tions for violating court order.

18. Contempt ¢=20

Federal Civil Procedure ¢=1636.1

For purposes of determining whether
defendant in products liability action should
be subjected to discovery and contempt sanc-
tions for discovery abuses and violations of
court orders, correspondence between defen-
dant and plaintiffs and representations made
during defense witness’ deposition constitut-
ed agreements binding on defendant and re-
quiring it to produce data and documents
sought.

19. Federal Civil Procedure ¢=1278

Discovery orders must be obeyed even
by those foreseeing ultimate success in dis-
triet court.

20. Contempt =20
Federal Civil Procedure ¢=1636.1

In context of motion for discovery and
contempt sanctions against defendant in
products liability action based on discovery
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abuses and violations of court orders, defen-
dant could not argue that “summaries” pro-
vided to plaintiffs were in fact admissible
summaries of test data that was to be sup-
plied to plaintiffs; defendant never sought to
invoke evidentiary rule dealing with summar-
ies, and summaries amounted to hearsay and
could not be authenticated by witness
through whom they were sought to be intro-
duced. Fed.Rules Evid.Rule 1006, 28
U.S.CA.

21. Evidence €177

If used according to its terms, evidentia-
ry rule may be vehicle to introduce charts,
summaries, or calculations into evidence;
however, proponent of such summary must
invoke and rely upon rule. Fed.Rules Evid.
Rule 1006, 28 U.S.C.A.

22. Federal Civil Procedure &=1600(3)

Witnesses €=204(2)

Data from tests performed by indepen-
dent laboratory hired by defendant in prod-
ucts liability action was not protected from
disclosure by attorney-client privilege or
work product privilege; data generated by
tests were facts as opposed to opinion of
defense witness formed after review of them,
and data were responsive to plaintiffs’ discov-
ery requests and covered by court orders.

23. Evidence ¢=555.4(1)

As matter of law, expert who relies on
summary of data or facts by definition relies
upon underlying data and facts that form
basis for summary. Fed.Rules Evid.Rule
703, 28 U.S.C.A. :

24. Federal Civil Procedure ¢=1261

Mutual knowledge of all relevant facts
gathered by both parties is essential to prop-
er litigation.

25. Federal Civil Procedure ¢=1600(5)
Defendant in products liability action
waived any claim of work product protection
with regard to test data by agreeing to sup-
ply plaintiffs with data in return for plaintiffs
allowing defendant to enter their land.

26. Federal Civil Procedure ¢°1636.1
In light of fact that plaintiffs’ disecovery
requests as well as court orders in products
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liability action encompassed test data, defen-
dant could not defend its failure to produce
all of data on grounds that it was not asked
for such data after it produced what it pur-
ported to be “summaries.”

27. Evidence ¢=78

In case of intentional misconduct, as
where concealment of evidence was knowing
and purposeful, it is fair to presume that
suppressed evidence would have damaged
nondisclosing party.

28. KEvidence &>78

Where discovery material is deliberately
suppressed, its absence can be presumed to
have inhibited unearthing of further admissi-
ble evidence adverse to withholder, ie., to
have substantially interfered with aggrieved
party’s trial preparation.

29. Federal Civil Procedure &=1278, 2756.1

Releases executed in connection with
settlement of products Hability suit did not
bar eourt from considering defendant’s fraud
on the court through discovery abuses and
violations of court orders; no agreement be-
tween private parties can deprive court of its
power to conduct investigation into and ren-
dering rulings on alleged fraud on court.

30. Constitutional Law ¢=303

Due process of law requires that sane-
tions not be assessed lightly or without fair
notice and opportunity for hearing on record.
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14.

31. Federal Civil Procedure ¢=2801

Although it was lawyers for corporate
defendant whose acts of concealment and
misrepresentation were immediate cause of
plaintiffs’ damage, circumstances could justi-
fy imposition of sanctions on defendant.

32. Attorney and Client =104

Counsel’s knowledge and = behavior

should be imputed to client.

33. Corporations =397

Under elementary agency principles,
corporation is personified through acts of its
agents; therefore, acts of its agents become
acts of corporation as single entity.

34. Principal and Agent &177(1)

General rule is that principal is charge-
able with and bound by knowledge of his
agent while acting within scope of his author-
ity; agent, while acting within scope of his
agency is, as to matter embraced within
agency, principal himself or alter ego of prin-
cipal.

35. Federal Civil Procedure ¢=1636.1, 2829

For purposes of determining whether
defendant in products liability action should
be sanctioned for discovery abuses and viola-
tions of court orders in failing to disclose
certain test data, evidence established that
both laboratory hired by corporation to per-
form tests and corporation’s counsel acted as
corporation’s agent.

36. Federal Civil Procedure €1636.1, 2829

For purposes of determining whether
defendant in products liability action should
be sanctioned for discovery abuses and viola-
tions of court orders for failing to disclose
certain test data, actions taken and state-
ments made by defendant’s counsel and oth-
er representatives in court in instant suit as
well as in other courts in suits involving same
product could be considered pursuant to doc-
trines and concepts of judicial and evidentia-
ry admissions, estoppel, and ratification.

37. Federal Civil Procedure ¢=1636.1

Based on finding that defendant in prod-
ucts liability action committed discovery
abuses by failing to disclose test data that
was essential to plaintiffs’ case, which abuses
prolonged trial and made mockery of prepa-
ration for and conduct of trial, defendant
would be sanctioned in amount of $6,843 -
837.53. Fed.Rules Civ.Proc.Rule 37, 28
U.S.CA.

38. Contempt =75, 81

Based on finding that defendant in prod-
ucts liability action was in contempt of court
as result of its obtaining entry of order va-
cating prior discovery orders, and also in
continuing contempt, court would order as
sanction that prior orders finding discovery
abuses and imposing sanctions in amount of
$1,000,000 be reinstated and additionally as-
sess sanetion in amount of $100,000,000;
both amounts could be purged by complying
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with all orders entered by court and by
publishing full-page advertisement in nation-
al newspaper as well as in most widely circu-
lated newspaper in three states acknowl-
edging defendant’s wrongdoing and giving
notice of court’s orders and sanctions.

C. Neal Pope, Columbus, Georgia, and
Richard H. Gill, Montgomery, Alabama, for
petitioners.

Dow N. Kirkpatrick, II and John K. Train,
111, Columbus, Georgia and Arthur J. Eng-
land, Miami, Florida, for respondent.

OPINION AND ORDER

ELLIOTT, District Judge.

* A hearing which began on Tuesday, May 2,
1995, and ended on Friday, May 12, 1995,
was conducted by the Court in connection
with the matter above identified. Following
the suggestion made by the Court, counsel
for the respective parties have filed proposed
findings of fact and conclusions of law. The
Court now files this opinion in which the
Court’s findings of fact and conclusions of
law, although not separately categorized, will
be readily apparent. The Court will enter &
separate order with respect to and deciding
all motions of the Petitioners and of DuPont
which are still pending.

The Petitioners in this matter are nursery-
men who previously were among the named
Plaintiffs in separate actions against E.I. du
Pont de Nemours and Company (hereafter
DuPont) tried as consclidated cases in this
court. A total of 14 such actions were filed,
and all of the cases were consolidated for the
purposes of discovery prior to trial of the
consolidated cases. At all times, however,
the first four of those actions (the “Bush
Ranch cases”) clearly were the “lead” cases.
The Plaintiffs in those cases contended that
DuPont’s product, Benlate 50DF, a fungicide,
was defective and was contaminated with,
among other things, highly toxic herbicides
generically called sulfonylureas (“SUs”),
manufactured, formulated and/or warehoused
by DuPont at the same Belle, West Virginia,
plant where benomyl, the active ingredient in
Benlate 50DF, is manufactured. It was
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claimed that such SU-contaminated Benlate
caused damages to the ornamental plants
and the soils and waters of their nurseries.
Therefore, the testing for the presence of SU
contamination was the most critical evidence
for both the Plaintiffs and the Defendant in
the Bush Ranch cases.

This Petition to Show Cause was filed with
the Court on March 22, 1995. The Petition-
ers, three of the four Plaintiffs in the original
lead consolidated cases (hereafter “Bush
Ranch” cases), are alleging that DuPont,
through its conduct, engaged in acts of mis-
representation and concealment as to critical
evidence which constituted a fraud on the
Court and a contempt of the Court’s orders.
On reviewing the petition, as well as the
memorandum appendix in support and at-
tached Exhibits 1-75, this Court on March
23, 1995, entered an order directing DuPont
to show cause on April 24, 1995, why it
should not be sanctioned for the conduct
described in the petition.

Among the motions filed by DuPont was a
motion to recuse this District Court Judge
before whom the wrongful conduct stated in
the petition was alleged to have occurred.
DuPont also filed motions to dismiss and to
vacate the show cause order. Thereafter,
considering these motions, the Court contin-
ved the hearing to May 1, 1995, and, at the
request of DuPont’s counsel, the Court con-
tinued the hearing to May 2, 1995.

On April 26, 1995, the Court denied Du-
Pont’s motion to recuse. On April 28, 1995,
the Court denied DuPont’s motion to stay all
proceedings pending review in the appellate
court, that motion having been filed on April
27, 1995. DuPont then filed an emergency
motion for stay in the United States Court of
Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit on April 28,
1995, along with a petition for a writ of
mandamus and a writ of prohibition. These
motions were denied by the Court of Appeals
on Monday, May 1, 1995. As already noted,
the hearing on the show cause order began
on Tuesday, May 2, 1995, and ended on
Friday, May 12, 1995. The sole purpose of
the hearing was to determine whether sanc-
tions should be imposed on the Respondent
DuPont.
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[1] The show cause order was issued fol-
lowing consideration of a petition and volumi-
nous exhibits, which alleged that DuPont had
committed a fraud on this Court in connec-
tion with discovery matters, trial conduct,
and a post-settlement application to the
Court to vacate previous sanctions orders.
As set out in detail in this opinion, the Court
finds-and concludes that DuPont did commit
the fraud, the discovery abuses, and the vio-
lations of this Court’s orders averred in the
petition. DuPont has failed to show any
sufficient cause why it should not be sane-
tioned for the conduct detailed herein.

[2] The Court has heard the testimony
and has reviewed the documentary evidence.
The Court takes judicial notice of all of the
pleadings, submissions, hearing transeripts,
orders, and trial transcripts in the Bush
Ranch cases. The Court has observed the
demeanor of the witnesses and considered
any inconsistencies in the evidence. The
Court has determined that evidence from
other cases involving allegations that Du-
Pont’s Benlate 50DF caused damages, which
evidence in most instances consists of trial or
deposition transcripts, court orders, or in
Judicio statements by DuPont, properly
should be considered where it concerns what
happened in this court, or where it concerns
actions or positions taken by or on behalf of
DuPont with respect to the Alta data and
documents, or where it bears on the credibili-
ty of DuPont. The essentially identical con-
duct of DuPont in concealing and misrepre-
senting Alta tests and documents in other
courts immediately after the Bush Ranch
trial is, however, strong evidence of DuPont’s
intent and motive, and establishes a pattern
of concealment and false representations on
this crucial issue. That pattern of conceal-
ment has continued through the show cause
hearing here.

It is without dispute that the core, almost
the ultimate, issue in the Bush Ranch trials
was whether or not the soils and or waters of
the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs’ lands where their
nursery businesses were conducted were con-
taminated by the use of DuPont’s Benlate
product which itself was defective’ due to
contamination by sulfonylureas (“SUs”)
which were also manufactured by DuPont.

DuPont was confronted with hundreds of
claims and lawsuits throughout the United
States alleging damage by Benlate, thus es-
tablishing a signifieant economic risk for Du-
Pont if Benlate was found to be defective
through contamination. While there was
much circumstantial and indirect evidence of
SU-contamination, throughout the bulk of the
pretrial discovery Plaintiffs had not been
able to produce direct test results of their
soils and waters. This was due prineipally to
the fact that such testing could not generally
be performed on scientific equipment avail-
able to Plaintiffs’ experts. The Plaintiffs
agreed to allow agents of DuPont onto their
properties where their nurseries were locat-
ed for the purpose of taking soil samples.
The Defendant agreed, however, that in re-
turn for being allowed access to the soils,
waters, and plants of the Plaintiffs for pur-
poses of taking samples, DuPont would fur-
nish Plaintiffs with all materials generated in
connection with any tests conducted on those
soil, water, and plant samples.

In an effort to bolster the defense conten-
tion that there’ were no SUs in Plaintiffs’
soils or waters, DuPont engaged Alta Labo-
ratories, Ine. (hereinafter “Alta”) to perform
sophisticated analytical chemistry tests,
which few other laboratories, if any, in the
country could perform. Although all materi-
als generated in connection with such tests
were to be furnished to Plaintiffs, both as a
matter of discovery and pursuant to order of
this Court, and as a matter of conditions
made clear as a predicate to the entry of
DuPont onto Plaintiffs’ lands to obtain sam-
ples for these tests, the only documentary
materials ever furnished Were some tables or
charts which the Defendant referred to and
called “Summaries.” Some of those summar-
ies were given to Plaintiffs on the eve of trial.
The remainder of them were not furnished
until after Plaintiffs had rested their case
and not until just before the Defendant was
about to call its only witness through whom it
would seek to elicit the information which
was purportedly contained in the tables. It
is the conduct of DuPont surrounding the
preparation and use of these “summaries,”
when taken together with the'conduct gener-
ally of the agents and attorneys of DuPont,
which gives rise to many of the allegations of



1530

fraud upon the Court currently before the
Court.

For a year preceding the Alta tests, the
Bush Ranch Plaintiffs and DuPont had been
engaged in a protracted series of discovery
disputes, as the result of which this Court
had repeatedly found DuPont to be in fla-
grant violation of discovery orders and
duties. This Court had found Dupont’s con-
duet to be the most serious abuse in its years
on the bench and the most serious abuse
reflected in the legal precedents. A condi-
tional sanction of, first, $500,000.00, then
$1,000,000.00 had been set, without, it is now
clear, altering DuPont’s conduct toward the
Court, the civil justice system, or the oppos-
ing parties.

During the lengthy discovery period in this
case this Court was forced by the obstruective
practices of DuPont to hold numerous hear-
ings. Those hearings took place on the fol-
lowing dates: July 8, 1992; August 5, 1992;
August 26, 1992; October 9, 1992; February
19, 1993; April 9, 1993; May 14, 1993; May
27, 1993; June 11, 1993; and June 29, 1993.
As a result of the hearings held, the Court
entered orders on the following dates:

(1) Memorandum opinion and order on
Plaintiffs’ motion to compel discovery dated
June 24, 1992;

(2) Order dated July 21, 1992;
(8) Order dated August 7, 1992;

(4) Supplemental order dated September
25, 1992;

(5) Order granting Plaintiffs motion to
adopt report of special master dated October
15, 1992;

(6) Order on pending motions dated Octo-
ber 23, 1992;

(7) Order dated November 16, 1992;
(8) Order dated December 10, 1992;

(9) Order imposing sanctions dated March
15, 19983;

(10) Supplemental order imposing sanc-
tions dated April 14, 1993;

(11) Memorandum and order on hearings
of May 14, 1993, and May 27, 1993, dated
June 7, 1993; and ,
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(12) Order on continuation of Plaintiffs’
motion for sanctions hearing held June 11,
1993, dated June 15, 1993.

This Court had never experienced the kind
of deliberate refusal to comply with discovery
orders that was evidently taking place during
this period of time. It became apparent to
the Court that DuPont was using its in-house
legal staff, local Wilmington, Delaware, coun-
sel, national coordinating counsel, and others
to carry out a deliberate effort to restriet
legitimate discovery in these and similar
cases. The Court entered an order making
such a finding on March 15, 1993. Efforts by
the Court to bring DuPont into compliance
involved requiring an affidavit from, and sub-
sequently the appearance of the Defendant’s
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer, Edgar S. Woolard, Jr. Mr. Woolard
assured this Court that DuPont understood
what its discovery obligations were and that
it would produce all documents responsive to
the Plaintiffs requests. In spite of these
assurances, the Defendant continued to re-
fuse to honor the Plaintiff’s legitimate re-
quests and its earlier assurances to the Court
that it would produce all responsive docu-
ments. Because of the repeated refusals of
DuPont to comply with the orders of the
Court, and in order to make an appropriate
impression on DuPont, the Court was con-
strained to enter a conditional order impos-
ing a monetary sanction of $500,000.00. As
the case approached trial, the Court entered
an order on June 7, 1993, addressing both
the May 14, 1993, hearing and the May 27,
1993, hearing, and found, among other
things, that:

By way of preface, the Court notes that

DuPont’s prior non-compliance with the

Court’s discovery orders is exemplified by

the fact that Mr. George Frank, DuPont’s

corporate counsel, submitted an affidavit

on behalf of DuPont on January 4, 1993,

wherein he certified to the Court that Du-

Pont had fully complied with this Court’s

orders in that full production of documents

had been made pursuant to the Plaintiffs’
first requests for production even though
he testified on cross-examination at the

May 27. hearing that he never read

through those requests. The Court finds
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such conduct to be typical of the Defen-
dant’s attitude toward discovery through-
out the history of this case.

The monetary sanction against DuPont was
increased in that order from $500,000.00 to
$1,000,000.00 and was again reserved for la-
ter ruling by the Court following a future
assessment of DuPont’s discovery conduect.

A fifth sanctions hearing was held on June
11, 1993, at which time the Court received
evidence that DuPont had intentionally with-
held documents related to the crucial issue in
the case, cross-contamination of Benlate with
sulfonylureas. At that fifth sanctions hear-
ing, the Court received evidence that over
one month prior to the hearing on May 6,
1993, DuPont scheduled the deposition of
John Olsen, the contamination prevention
coordinator at the Belle, West Virginia, Du-
Pont, plant. In connection with that deposi-
tion, the Court received evidence of the fol-
lowing:

(a) On May 5, 1993, the evening before his
deposition, Mr. Olsen was in the Atlanta
office of Alston & Bird with Elizabeth Gilley
preparing for his deposition. He presented
her with additional documents from the
Belle, West Virginia, DuPont facility, which
had not previously been produced to the
Bush Ranch Plaintiffs, but which related to
the cross-contamination of Benlate.

(b) Rather than produce the documents
and go forward with the deposition, DuPont’s
counsel, on the eve of the Olsen deposition,
falsely represented that Mr. Olsen was un-
available, and that the deposition would have
fo be canceled.

(¢} Mr. Olsen’s deposition was rescheduled
for June 4, 1993, and it was not until the
evening - of June 3, 1993, that these same
documents, already in the possession of Du-
Pont counsel Gilley since May 5, 1993, were
produced to the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs.

(d) In the interim between May 5, 1993,
and June 3, 1993, representatives of DuPont,
including Dr. David Johnson and Edgar S.
Woolard represented to this Court that all
responsive documents had been produced by
May 14, 1993.

- (e) DuPont recognized that - documents
concerning cross-contamination of Benlate

with sulfonylureas generated after the Bush
Ranch Plaintiffs’ initial requests were re-
sponsive to and subject to production pursu-
ant to Plaintiffs’ request for supplementation
(filed on May 24, 1993) to supplement the
earlier document production.

As a result of the evidence presented at
the June 11, 1993, hearing, the Court found
as follows:

Well, the Court finds that the Defendant,

DuPont, continues to take every means

possible to obstruct discovery to which the

Plaintiffs are entitled. This is just a con-

tinuation of what has been going on for

months. ‘

. Now, having stated as I did just a
moment ago that the Court finds that the
Defendant continues to take every means
possible to obstruct discovery to which
Plaintiffs were entitled, immediately the
idea comes to mind, of course, well, just
increase the monetary sanctions from a
million to two million, or five million, or
what not. But it’s obvious that money
does not make an impression on the Defen-
dant.

Now, with regard to what has been pre-

sented here today, the Court finds that it

is without question now that the Plaintiffs
have been clearly—have clearly demon-
strated that the Defendant has intentional-
ly withheld documents relevant to the is-
sue of cross-contamination of Benlate by

Sulfonyl, however you pronounce that,

ureas.

... (Dt prejudices the Plaintiffs in the

presentation of their case for these docu-

ments to have been withheld until 30 days
before the beginning of the trial, when
under the Court’s order the documents
should have been produced long ago. In
other words, the Plaintiffs’ case is clearly
prejudiced by this action, inaction on the
part of the Defendant.” It is simply an
abuse of the discovery process. And dur-
ing the recent weeks, sinee this:is the
worst case of this nature that I have ever
had anything to do with, I have been inter-
ested in other cases that have dealt with
abuse of the discovery process, and I ha-
ven't found a case that approaches this.
In other words, I haven’t found a ecase
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where the deliberate actions on the part of
a defendant to obstruct the discovery pro-
cess approach what has happened here.
There may be some, but I haven’t found
any. (Emphasis added.)

Subsequent to that June 11, 1993, hearing,
DuPont produced over 225,000 documents re-
sponsive to the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs’ initial
and supplemental requests, including many
documents which were generated subsequent
to - Plaintiffs’ initial document requests.
Nome of the Alta test materials concerning
SU contamination was included in that pro-
duction. : :

On June 26, 1993, Plaintiffs took the depo-
sition of Nicholas Albergo, an expert witness
named by DuPont. On that date, Mr. Alber-
go testified, among other things, that Alta
had conducted tests of the Bush Ranch
Plaintiffs’ soils and waters for the presence
of DuPont SUs. Based on the data, con-
tained in the few charts available to him from
Alta at that time, Mr. Albergo testified that
there was no evidence of SUs in any of the
Bush Ranch Plaintiffs’ soils or waters which
had been tested as reflected in the summar-
ies.

A final sanctions hearing was held on June
29, 1993, less than one week before the trial
of the Bush Ranch cases was to begin. At
that time the Court received evidence con-
cerning DuPont’s continued non-compliance
with its obligations and the Court’s orders
during the course of discovery, explicitly re-
lated to cross-contamination issues.

Present at the hearing as a corporate rep-
resentative for DuPont was Dr. Joel Wom-
mack, director of R & D and head of analyt-
ical chemistry for the Benlate Resolution
Team since March, 1991. The Benlate Reso-
lution Team was a group set up by DuPont to
monitor, direct, and coordinate DuPont’s le-
gal efforts with regard to all Benlate litiga-
tion.

The Court’s June 29 hearing was at a time
when Alta’s tests had already been conduct-
ed. None of the data or documents had been
produced, nor had the attendant Alta docu-
ments, which disclose the history of the test-
ing and the activities of DuPont in connection
with the ultimate preparation of the Alta
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report and summaries, been produced.
Those documents established that DuPont
knew from at least early in the week before
Mr. Albergo gave a discovery deposition on
June 26, 1993, that there had been numerous
initial positive findings of SU contamination,
findings which the chemist conducting the
tests has testified he recognized as “poten-
tially bad news for DuPont” which he as-
sumed might establish liability for damage at
the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs’ nurseries. These
documents were withheld by Defendant from
the Plaintiffs. While DuPont remained silent

_about the Alta data and documents, the

Court made the following findings:

(a) “... but the Plaintiffs have been trying
to get this information for a year. I've
entered orders about producing tapes
and producing results, and producing
this, and producing another. And it’s
just been an ongoing battle for the
Plaintiffs and their efforts, legitimate
efforts, to obtain discovery material, to
get this information. Finally, they get
some of it, here just a week before the
case is supposed to go to trial, and
haven’t got all of it yet.”

(o) “... And by withholding this evidence
until just a few days before the case
goes to trial, of course, the effect is
that once again the Plaintiffs have
been prejudiced in the presentation of
their case because they have been pre-
vented because of the time constraints
which are upon us, from conducting the
discovery which would be necessary to
further develop evidence concerning
these deletions, and who did it, and
why, and so on.”

(¢) “... the Court finds that the Defen-
dant is not in compliance with the
Court’s order, and is again ordered to
produce to the Plaintiffs before the
close of business on Friday of this
week, all such information, and partic-
ularly the Shalaby information, which
has been the focus of two or three of
our hearings.” (Emphasis added.)

The record reveals that DuPont has taken
several positions as to why no sanetions
should be imposed in response to the show
cause order. Among those positions, DuPont
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states that it was under no obligation to
produce to Plaintiffs in the Bush Ranch
cases the Alta data and documents. DuPont
states that the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs’ discov-
ery, including the Plaintiffs’ supplemental
discovery served not long before trial, did not
require the production of the Alta data and
documents, and that if the discovery did so
require, DuPont had no duty to supplement
its discovery responses through trial. Du-
Pont also states that there was no outstand-
ing order of the Court requiring DuPont to
produce = all Benlate-related documents,
which orders Petitioners allege would include
the Alta data and documents.

Further, DuPont, at times, has argued that
the Alta data and documents were not sub-
Jject to production because of a claim of work
product protection.

Concerning the chronology of discovery in
the Bush Ranch cases, as it bears on the
petition and the show cause hearing and as it
bears on the reasons urged by DuPont why
no sanctions should be entered, the Court
summarizes its findings and/or finds as fol-
lows:

(a) The conduct and strategy of DuPont in
the discovery process was controlled either
through its in-house counsel, national coor-
dinating counsel, or Wilmington, Delaware,
counsel and not solely by Alston Bird or
other local counsel, and DuPont continues
to knowingly approve, ratify and acquiesce
in the past and present conduct of its
counsel in this and subsequent Benlate
cases. DuPont, through its corporate offi-
cers and other officials, ratified, approved,
and adopted this conduct and strategy and
caused the same to be used by counsel
representing DuPont in Benlate cases all
across the country.

(b) The Court found a continuing and de-
liberate effort by DuPont to impede, delay,
and otherwise restrict legitimate discovery
by Plaintiffs in the underlying cases and a
repeated failure to comply with the Court’s
orders concerning discovery.

(¢) Supplementation of discovery respons-
es was both ordered by the Court and
recognized by the parties; it is, moreover,
encompassed within the civil rules.

(d) This Court maintained a continuing or-
der outstanding through the trial of the
Bush Ranch cases which required DuPont
to produce all Benlate-related documents
to Plaintiffs.

(e) Benlate-related documents included by
definition all of the Alta data and docu-
ments,

(f) The Alta data and documents were not
produced to Plaintiffs, were not offered to
Plaintiffs, were not provided to this Court,
or were not otherwise made available to
this Court or Plaintiffs in the underlying
Bush Ranch cases. ,

(g) DuPont made no claim of protection or
privilege, either work product or attorney-
client, to any of the Alta data and docu-
ments; and such a claim, if made, would
not have been sustainable.

(h) DuPont engaged in a deliberate effort
to obstruct discovery during the Bush
Ranch cases.

(i) DuPont violated the rules of discovery,
Court orders, and duty to participate in
litigation in good faith during the Bush
Ranch cases. ,

() Court orders entered during these
cases clearly required DuPont to produce
all documents relevant to, or likely to lead
to information relevant to, the contentions
and defenses in those cases, including con-
tamination of Benlate by SUs, the very
subject of the Alta tests, and the hingepin
of the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs’ cases.

Whether or not Plaintiffs’ soils were actu-
ally and in fact contaminated with SUs was
recognized by both parties as the critical
issue in the case. The Defendant, in fact,
argued strongly to the Court that DuPont
should be allowed to introduce the Alta lab
test “summaries” on that subject and that
the Court’s failure to allow such evidence
would be highly prejudicial to the Defendant
on what DuPont characterized as “the critical
issue in the case.” That “critical issue” is,
however, not an issue which the Court need
resolve here as a predicate to deciding
whether or not Defendant’s conduct regard-
ing the withholding of such evidence as
claimed by the Petitioners here was conduct
which should be sanctioned by the Court.
Whether or not SUs were in fact present in
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the Plaintiffs’ soils was for the jury in the
Bush Ranch cases to determine. Whether
or not there was material evidence bearing
upon the presence of SUs in the Plaintiffs’
soils which was improperly withheld by the
Defendant is the question which this Court
must determine. The Court must also deter-
mine at this time whether or not DuPont has
even now told the truth about the circum-
stances surrounding the Alta data and docu-
ments. The evidence which actually went to
the jury, with the exception of the Alta Labs
evidence, as to the presence of SUs in the
Plaintiffs’ soils was highly contested. Du-
Pont presented the Alta Labs test summaries
through its witness Albergo, and that unre-
futed showing that the sole test results on
that subjeet showed absolutely no SUs pres-
ent in the Plaintiffs’ soils was the only direct
evidence which the jury had as to the SU soil
content resulting from analytical soil tests.
All other evidence concerning the presence of
SUs which the jury had before it, which
evidence was circumstantial in nature, was
contested by both sides, and the jury was left
to weigh the relative merits of opposing wit-
nesses testifying as to differing views of
whether or not, for instance, whether the
boxes of Benlate supplied to the Plaintiffs
contained SUs or whether or not it was
possible for cross-contamination to occur at
the fabrieating plant in West Virginia where
both Benomyl and sulfonylureas were pro-
duced.

Both sides had recognized Alta Labs to be
highly regarded in the scientific community
and most likely the only lab in the country
capable of performing these very intricate,
highly technical, and almost prohibitively ex-
pensive scientific tests. The introduction of
the unrefuted critical opinion testimony by
Mr. Albergo, stating without qualification
that the Alta charts supplied to him by Du-
Pont showed that no SUs were present in
Plaintiffs’ soils, effectively destroyed the
Plaintiffs’ circumstantial case on that decisive
issue, just as testimony to the contrary would
have been devastating to the Defendant’s
case had it been shown that its own experts
at Alta Labs had reached an opposite finding
that there were SUs present.
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The evidence produced at this show cause
hearing demonstrates clearly that DuPont’s
Alta Lab scientists had in fact found in June
of 1998 substantial evidence as o result of
their testing that samples from each of the
Bush Ranch Plaintiffs’ soils showed positive
findings for SU contamination. Mr. Beth-
em, one of the two scientists from Alta Labs,
testified at his deposition in late 1994, which
was admitted as evidence at the May 1995
hearing, as follows:

Q: Does your data support a representa-
tion that there are no sulfonylureas in
the Columbus, Georgia Plaintiff’s soils,
without a reference to the detection lim-
it?

A No....

Q: And you could not state under oath or
not under oath—

A: Okay

Q: —that sulfonylureas do not exist [sic]
in the soil of the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs
or the Columbus Plaintiffs at lower than
fifty parts per trillion?

A: No, I could not state that with certain-
ty.

Q: You have, in your data that reflect the
presence of certain sulfonylureas in the
extracts from certain samples at levels
below that which you consider your de-
teetion limit, correct. . ..

A:  Yes, we do.

Q: When Mr. Cella asked you a question,
if you had any factual basis for the pres-
ence of SUs in the Columbus, Georgia
soils, I believe you said you had no basis
for determining—that you had no factual
basis for determining, for stating that
there were SUs in the Columbus case
soils; is that correct?

A: With the detection limit of fifty parts
per trillion

Q: And, in fact, you do have a basis to
believe that there were SUs in the ex-
tracts from those soils, don’t you?

A: Yes, I do.

(Emphasis added.)

Mr. Bethem also testified that, at the time
he made his findings with Alta’s regard to
SUs in the Plaintiffs’ soils, he considered
those findings to be “bad news” for DuPont.
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The Alta Labs personnel then promptly
reported their findings to DuPont’s lawyers,
Alston and Bird, in mid June, 1993, and the
Court concludes from the evidence that Du-
Pont’s Dr. David Johnson necessarily knew
about these findings. The evidence was not
communicated to the Plaintiffs despite Du-
Pont’s clear duty to do so and in fact was
deliberately and consciously kept by the De-
fendant from becoming a part of the evidence
in the case through the employment by the
Defendant of a scheme which the Court finds
that DuPont perpetrated for the very pur-
pose of hiding and concealing this critical and
pivotal evidence.

The Court finds that DuPont’s motive
seems clear. Given the company’s great reli-
ance on and belief in scientific testing, to-
gether with the potential economic exposure
because of the large numbers of pending but
unresolved cases, a finding by its own scien-
tists that its Benlate was contaminated with
its own SUs would be particularly grave.
The evidence is undisputed, however, that
following its reporting of its initial findings of
SUs in mid June 1993, Alta Labs was or-
dered by the Defendant to go back, “after
most of the work is done” and to “confirm
(defirm)” the positive findings. The Alta
documents containing this disclosure were
not produced by DuPont. Testing proce-
dures were changed. The minimum detec-
tion limit was raised. Tests were repeatedly
redone and massaged. Soil samples that had
been found to be positive were “homoge-
nized” with other parts of the soil sample.
Although the written data which comprised
the Alta test procedures was highly complex
and technical and incomprehensible to people
without very specialized analytical chemical
fraining, those documents were carefully con-
cealed from the Plaintiffs and were, in fact,
not made available to the only expert, Mr.
Albergo, who the Defendant selected to testi-
fy with regard to the conclusions to be de-
rived from that data.

DuPont never offered, proffered or:pro-
duced the Alta data and documents to the
Bush Ranch Plaintiffs, despite a clear duty
to do so arising from repeated orders of this
Court, from the Civil Rules, and from its own
commiitments and representations. Those

documents, in fact, only came to light after a
ruling by the Hawaii Supreme Court forced
DuPont months later to produce them. The
documents establish that DuPont knew, from
at least early in the week before Mr. Albergo
gave his discovery deposition on June 26,
1993, that there had been numerous initial
positive findings of SU contamination, find-
ings which the chemist conducting the tests
has testified he recognized as “potentially
bad news for DuPont,” and which he as-
sumed might establish liability for damage at
the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs’ nurseries.

Rather than having the chemist who pet-
formed the tests testify as to the results of
those tests, the Defendant chose instead to
falsely present the results and conclusions of
those tests through a witness untrained in
analytical chemistry and incapable of inter-
preting the data showing the positive find-
ings that Alta had made. Documents charac-
terized by the Defendant as “Summaries”
were supplied to Mr. Albergo, which docu-
ments purported to list in a table tests that
Alta Labs had run on each of the Bush
Ranch Plaintiffs’ soil. Only a portion of

" these summaries were supplied to Plaintiffs a

few days before the trial began and the
remainder were withheld until after Plaintiffs
had rested their cases and Defendant was
well into its casé. These “Summaries” were
represented to be the results of the work of
Bethem and Petersen of Alta Labs compiled
in table form, and showing for each soil
sample that no SUs were detected at the
detection limit shown on the chart.

When the Defendant attempted to intro-
duce the documents at trial through their
witness Albergo who they had called as a
remediation expert, Plaintiffs objected to the
introduction of the charts on the basis that
the witness had not performed the work on
the soil testing and was not competent to
authenticate and vouch for the document.

The Court did not allow the introduction of
the charts but did allow the witness to give
his opinion as an expert based upon the
hearsay conclusions evidenced in the tables.
The Court now finds that Mr. Albergo on
voir dire falsely represented to the Court his
role in the oversight and supervision of the
Alta tests which led to the preparation of
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those so-called summaries. During that voir
dire and argument by counsel as to whether
or not the Court should admit the tables or
the information which the tables purported
to show, the Court finds counsel for DuPont
misrepresented to the Court and misled the
Court and Plaintiff’s counsel as to the true
facts surrounding what the Alta Labs tests
showed with regard to the presence of SUs
in the soil samples tested by Alta. The
Court further finds that the evidence which
the Court permitted to go to the jury, based
upon the false and misleading testimony of
Albergo and upon the false and misleading
representations and arguments of DuPont’s
counsel, provided the false basis for the De-
fendant to argue throughout the remainder
of the case, without contradiction, that the
test evidence showed that no SUs were pres-
ent in the soils of the Plaintiffs. The Court
further finds that the evidence is now clear
that, had the Plaintiffs been given the infor-
mation which the Alta tests disclosed and
had not been led to believe that those tests
showed no presence of SUs, the trial of the
case may have been materially altered. The
presentation of Plaintiff's witnesses, the
cross examination of Defendant’s witnesses,
Plaintiff’s rebuttal case, opening statements,
and closing arguments, at the very least
would have been entirely different.

Specifically, the Court finds:

That DuPont’s expert, Nicholas Albergo,
testified falsely and misled the Court as to
his role in the supervising, directing, and
controlling of the Alta Lab scientists, and
in his understanding of the basis for the
summaries in connection with the testing
of the Plaintiffs’ soils in the Bush Ranch
tests. In order to bolster his own credibil-
ity, Mr. Albergo testified to the Bush
Ranch jury that, “I visited the labs that I
used, personally discussed the resuits with
the analytical chemists, and personally
looked at the raw data.” These state-
ments were false. In reality, it is clear
that Mr. Albergo and others have now
testified that Mr. Albergo had little, if any,
contact with the Alta analytical chemists,
did not see or review any of their raw data,
nor did he consult with thermn about the
methodology or results. Mr. Albergo tes-
tified by deposition January 19, 1995, that
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he was not actually involved in these tests;
that he had not hired Alta; that he had not
discussed the results or methodology with
the Alta chemists or DuPont’s counsel,
that he had not reviewed any raw data;
that he was never provided any data by
DuPont, Alta, or DuPont lawyers; that he
only saw summaries of the test results;
and that, in fact, he had never even asked
about the results or the underlying data.

That DuPont’s counsel, Elizabeth Gilley,
misrepresented to the Court during argu-
ment on the voir dire of the witness, Mr.
Albergo, what the role of that witness was
in procuring, supervising, directing, and
controlling the Alta Labs scientists in the
conduct of the testing of the Plaintiffs’ soils
in the Bush Ranch tests.

That Ms. Gilley, in conjunction with Du-
Pont’s expert Nicholas Albergo, represent-
ed to this Court that Mr. Albergo worked
closely with the analytical chemists at Alta
running these tests and consulted with
them concerning the methodology of the
tests, the results of the tests, and data
underlying the tests. Ms. Gilley then stat-
ed:

No, Your Honor, but they were conduct-
ed under his direction. He selected the
labs to perform the analysis, he directed
them as to what analysis should be per-
formed, he told them what to look for,
told them what methods to use, and they
did everything under his direction and
control. ... So, Your Honor, we would
submit that he would be entitled to testi-
fy to the results, to submit the data in
support of those results because he is
entitled to rely on that information as an
expert in that field. All this information
is documentary evidence that he testified
about in his deposition.

That DuPont’s counsel, Dow N. Kirkpat-
rick, Jr. misrepresented to the Court dur-
ing argument on the voir dire of the wit-
ness, Mr. Albergo, what the role of that
witness was in procuring, supervising, di-
recting, and controlling the Alta Lab scien-
tists in the conduct of the testing of the
Plaintiffs’ soils in the Bush Ranch tests.
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That in arguing to allow Albergo to tes-
tify and to permit the introduction of the
Alta summaries into evidence, Mr. Kirk-
patrick said:

This is the only expert in the entire case

who has actually taken these samples

and had them analyzed, and this is the
issue because Plaintiffs have claimed
that they have contamination on their
property although- they have no proof.

And we have now got someone that has

analyzed all of the samples, and will

come in here and tell this Court and
this jury that there are no SUs [sulfony-
lureas] on the property, in the plants, or

- in the product. And we believe that that
testimony is critical. (Emphasis add-
ed.) ‘

and

The point simply is that we have the
evidence that there are no SUs out there
That is the issue in the case. ...

and

Your Honor, we're talking about the cru-
cial issue in the case. ...

That DuPont’s counsel, Dow N. Kirkpat-
rick, Jr. misrepresented to the Court dur-
ing closing argument to the jury what the
witness, Albergo, actually did and what the
findings of the Alta Labs scientists actually
were.

That in argument to the jury in closing
Mr. Kirkpatrick said:

... Niek Albergo went out and tested

soil and other samples. He didn't find

any SUs in the soil or any of the sam-
ples out there. Those are our tests.

Where are their tests? Do you recall

when everybody went out, they dig up a

shovel of dirt.  We'd get half of it, they’d

get half of it. We brought our test re-
sults in here. Where are their test re-
sults.  Dr. Jones found plant disease.

Mr. Albergo found no SUs.

... And our tests, the ones Mr. Albergo

did, show there are not any SUs out

there. What about Bush Ranch who

plants his plants in the ground? He
can’t claim sulfonylureas damage either.

We tested for that. Mr. Albergo gave
you the results in that test. :

... All of this factual scientific informa-
tion is in contrast to the Plaintiffs in
these cases who are talking about some
minute, very small sulfonylureas con-

tamination in Benlate which they think

has wiped out their plants. The evi-

dence shows that sulfonylureas are not

present in Plaintiffs’ Benlate soil.

... On the other hand, what did DuPont

do? We asked Nick Albergo, a remedia-

tion specialist from Tampa to make a

complete assessment. He visited each

site, studied the property, took numer-
ous samples, soil, water, air, other mate-
rials. He had them analyzed. You
heard the results. There is no contami-
nation. There are no SUs in the soil,
water, or anywhere. (Emphasis added.)

That DuPont presented testimony, evi-
dence, and argument that there was no
evidence of SUs in the Plaintiffs’ soils and
waters, knowing the same to be false and
misleading to the Court and jury.

That in relying on a summary of the
Alta data and documents, DuPont’s expert
Albergo inherently relied on the data and
documents generated by Alta Labs.

That DuPont’s conduct with respect to
this self-deseribed “most critical” evidence
was in violation of the Court’s orders, the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a liti-
gant’s duty of good faith and DuPont’s
express agreements and representations,
and, in and of itself, and in connection with
the other conduct which occurred in the
Bush Ranch cases deprived those Plain-

tiffs of a fair trial and constituted a willful,

deliberate fraud on this Court.

That DuPont precluded, through its will-
ful misconduct, meaningful cross-examina-
tion of witnesses, meaningful scientific de-
bate within the courtroom and meaningful
argument to the jury on this self-described
“most critical issue in the case.”

That DuPont improperly valued its own
views of “science” to the exclusion of hav-
ing the “seience” tested in the crucible of
the courtroom.

That DuPont has now acknowledged
that, as to the Alta data and documents,
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scientists can and do disagree concerning
the ultimate conclusion and effect of Alta’s
tests. In fact, DuPont acknowledged that
the Alta data and documents were subject
to scientific opinion that SUs were in the
Bush Ranch Plaintiffs’ soils and water.

That Todd David, one of Defendant’s’

lawyers, testified:

Q. [Mr. Gill] Okay, and similarly there is
a disagreement as to what the Bush
Ranch initial findings mean or don’t
mean, right? There could be a scientific
dispute about that.

A. [Mr. David] Well, T know that Mr.
Bethem stands by his report from Alta
as to the Bush Ranch samples.

Q. Can you answer the question?

A. ' I know that Dr. Jodie Johnson dis-
agrees with Mr. Bethem’s conclusion.

Q. Right. So, if you have the raw data,
there could be a scientific disagreement
about what all that means, right?

A. Yes, and had Mr. Pope’s folks—

Q. You explicitly said to Judge Roberts,
speaking about Bush Ranch that there
is a scientific disagreement about what
all that means, right?

A. Absolutely, sir.

While the Bush Ranch jury was deliberat-
ing the parties reached agreement on a set-
tlement. The parties approached the Court
and DuPont presented to this Court a motion
to vacate the sanctions orders. DuPont rep-
resented there that, “Plaintiffs have agreed
that, during the course of the case, DuPont
did come in compliance with the Court’s or-
ders and its discovery obligation.” While
Plaintiffs could not and did not know that
this representation was false, DuPont did.
In reliance upon those representations, this
Court vacated the discovery and sanctions
orders. DuPont obtained that order through
a deliberate and willful fraud on the Court,
concealing and eontinuing its prior pattern of
abuse. In so doing, DuPont has made this
Court an instrument of its continuing fraud.

Within a month after the conclusion of the
Bush Ranch cases, DuPont went to trial in
another Benlate case, this time in Florida
(Lambert v. DuPont ). See Lambert, et al. v.
E.I. DuPont, et al., Civil Action No. CA-92—
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067, In the Circuit Court, In and For Hardee
County, Florida. A third such trial occurred
approximately four months after the end of
the Bush Ranch cases, again in Florida (Rit-
ter-Whitworth v. DuPont). See Whitworth,
et al. v. Harrell’s, Inc., et al, Civil Action
GC-G-92-1293 and Ritter, et al. v. Growers
Fertilizer Corp., et al., Civil Action No. GC—
G-1874, In the Circuit Court of the Tenth
Judicial Circuit In and For Polk County,
Florida. In each of those cases, an identical
pattern emerged. Alta was called on to con-
duct tests for the presence of SUs through
the same analytical method used in Bush
Ranch, and, in each instance, obtained posi-
tive results. In Lambert, the Alta chemist
has (after completion of the trial) testified
that he found the positive SU results to be
conclusive. In both instances, DuPont inten-
tionally withheld from the plaintiffs those
test data and, as in Bush Ranch, was able to
argue to the Court and the jury that the
evidence established that there were no SUs
in the Plaintiffs’ soils or waters. See re
Lambert, the following: May 3, 1995, Hear-
ing Transcript, at pp. 465-467; May 9, 1995,
Hearing Transcript, pp. 760-765; May 8§,
1995, Hearing Transeript, at pp. 656-670,
694; May 9, 1995, Hearing Transcript, at pp.
761-784; May 11, 1995, Hearing Transcript,
at pp. 1460-1461; Dr. Richard Browner, De-
cember 2, 1994, Kawamata Farms, Trial
Transcript (PX 10); Dr. J. Johnson, August
22, 1994, Hashimoto Trial Transcript at pp.
36-37 (PX 11). See also, PX 80 and 81. See,
re Ritter-Whitworth, the following: May 8,
1995, Hearing Transcript at pp. 579-583,
606620, 642-648. See also, PX 97 and 98.

Following a bitter discovery dispute in an-
other Benlate trial, Kawamata Farms v. Du-
Pont, Civil Action No. 91-437 (Kona) and
920247K (Kona) In the Circuit Court of the
Third Circuit, State of Hawaii. The Hawaii
Court ordered DuPont to produce data and
documents from Alta, which included the
Bush Ranch data and documents, draft re-
ports, and telephone memoranda. For the
first time, the test data containing those
parts indicating positive findings were dis-
closed, along with notes from Alta showing
Defendant’s directive to “confirm (defirm)”
the positive results. DuPont strenuously re-
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sisted production both in the trial court and
through mandamus in the Supreme Court of
Hawaii, and asserted a claim of privilege as
to the Alta data and documents, which claim
is directly opposite to DuPont’s assertions to
this Court in the show cause hearing. As set
out, infra, this Court has concluded that
DuPont has presented false positions here
when contrasted with its judicial admissions
and assertions elsewhere.

For example, DuPont has maintained here:

(1) that it was not required by court order,
rule or discovery request to produce the
Alta data and documents;

(2) that the Alta data and documents were
shielded by a work product privilege
despite DuPont’s representations to the
Court that the Alta people were fact
witnesses, and despite having never
claimed a privilege or logged such docu-
ments in the required privilege logs;

(8) that the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs never
requested the Alta data and documents;

(4) that DuPont “absolutely” did offer the
data and documents to Plaintiffs’ counsel
in the Bush Ranch proceedings, but that
Plaintiffs’ counsel declined them;

(5) that DuPont would have produced the
Alta data and documents if the Bush
Ranch Plaintiffs had made a Rule 1006
“objection” to the misleading “summar-
ies;”

(6) that some part of the Alta data and
documents were “available” in the court-
room after the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs
rested, but that not all of those papers
were present, and DuPont cannot say
what parts were and what were not
present, although it is now clear that a
number of the most damaging parts
were not present, assuming any of them
were, since DuPont never advised the
Court or opposing counsel of the claimed
availability of a box of such papers in the
courtroom. In: Hawaii, however, Du-
Pont argued that the Bush Ranch Alta
data and documents were subject to a
privilege which had never been waived,
and that those papers had mever been
offered, proffered, tendered, or used in
the Bush Ranch or any other Benlate
trial.

The Circuit Court in Hawaii, like this
Court, found DuPont’s discovery abuses to
be unprecedented, and imposed a sanction of
$1,500,000.00. This Court is not engaged in
determining whether a sanction should be
imposed for DuPont’s conduct in other
courts, but its clear pattern of concealment
and misrepresentation concerning the same
issues bears on DuPont’s intent, willfulness,
and motive, and relates to the credibility to
be given to its current professions of a corpo-
rate intent or desire to conform to the discov-
ery rules and court orders.

The Hawaiian production led plaintiffs in
other Benlate cases to take the depositions of
the Alta witnesses, Mr. Albergo and others,
thereby disclosing much of the history of the
events surrounding the Alta tests. This
Court is not persuaded that DuPont has even
now told the full truth of its conduct in that
regard.

In the proceedings before this Court on
the show cause order, the Court finds that
DuPont, when confronted with the allega-
tions of the petition, which were supported
by transeripts from other court proceedings,
depositions, and court orders, has not fully
and truthfully responded to those charges.
Instead, it has engaged in evasion, equivoca-
tion, and falsehood; through its witnesses
such as Mr. David and Mrs. Gilley, DuPont
refused to give straightforward answers to
questions about its conduct in regard to the
Alta documents and its positions before other
courts, refused to give words their plain and
ordinary meanings, and refused to respond
candidly or directly; it has sought to give a
distorted reading to the plain meaning of
words; it has created a whole series of after-
the-fact excuses which are not supported by
the facts and events; it has put forward
legally and factually inconsistent efforts at
justifying its conduet; it has contradicted its
own solemn representations to other courts,
made to induce those courts to rule favorably
to DuPont; it has resisted producing wit-
nesses before this Court who have knowledge
of the facts, and those witnesses who did
testify for DuPont were not credible; it has
sought to avoid answering for its conduct by
making irrelevant ad hominem attacks on
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Petitioners, Petitioners’ counsel, and the
Court; it has filed affidavits based on incom-
plete or inaccurate recitals of the predicate
facts; it has distorted the rules of evidence
and the Civil Rules; it is clear that DuPont
continues to evidence an attitude of contempt
for the Court’s orders and processes, and to
view itself as not subject to the rules and
orders affecting all other litigants.

DuPont’s actions and representations con-
cerning the Alta data and documents, and its
ultimate false representation concerning
compliance with the order of this Court, con-
stituted a fraud on the Court and a contempt
of the Court’s orders. DuPont’s conduct of
concealment and misrepresentation has con-
tinued through the show cause hearing. This
conduct merits, indeed requires, vigorous ac-
tion by the Court and the imposition of se-
vere sanctions.

The Court’s Authority

[31 DuPont has questioned the authority
of this Court to issue the show cause order
and conduct the hearing which ensued, con-
tending also that the Court does not have the
power to impose sanctions.

This Court has the power, the authority,
and the jurisdiction to investigate allegations
of a fraud on the Court and a fraud on the
judicial system, particularly where the al-
leged fraud was accomplished by concealing
highly relevant and discoverable information
and evidence, bearing on the most eritical
issue in the case, from the opposing parties
and their counsel, from a testifying expert
witness, and from the Court and the jury;
where the production of such information and
evidence was, pursuant to court orders, sub-
jeet to both initial and supplemental discov-
ery requests, was required by the Court’s
orders, and had been promised by DuPont’s
Chief Executive Officer, DuPont’s legal de-
partment, and DuPont’s trial counsel; where
the alleged fraud ultimately involved the
knowing and willful presentation to the Court
and/or to the jury of false testimony and
false argument; and where the alleged fraud
involved the presentation to the Court of a
motion containing materially untrue state-
ments for the purpose of, and with the result
of, obtaining an order from this Court vacat-
ing prior findings of discovery misconduct,
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and relieving DuPont of an obligation to pay
monetary sanctions. Such final action of pre-
senting a false representation to the Court to
obtain relief had the effect of using the Court
as an instrument to further the misconduct
and fraud of DuPont.

[4]1 The Bush Ranch Plaintiffs and Du-
Pont agreed in the pretrial order in those
cases (see PX 1) that this Court had jurisdic-
tion over the parties and the subject matter
there involved. The alleged fraud occurred
in this Court, and this Court is the proper, if
not the only, forum in which the matters
raised in the present petition can, in the first
instance, be determined. See Ex parte
Bradley, T Wall. 364, 372, 74 U.S. 364, 372, 19
L.Ed. 214, 217 (1868) (it is anomalous for one
court to take cognizance of an alleged con-
tempt committed before and against another
court; the court wherein the contempt oc-
curred possesses ample powers to take care
of its own dignity and punish the offender).
See also Chambers v. NASCO, Inc., 501 U.S.
32, 111 S.Ct. 2123, 115 L.Ed.2d 27 (1991)
(power to punish for contempts inherent in
all courts). This Court has the power, the
authority, and the jurisdiction to sanction
DuPont, to hold DuPont in civil contempt,
and otherwise to act to enforce the authority
of this Court, if the allegations are shown by
clear and convincing evidence to be true.
This Court relies on its inherent powers, 28
U.S.C. § 1651 and 18 U.S.C. § 401, Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure 11, 26, 33, 34, and
37, and case authority, including Chambers v.
NASCO, Inc., supra; Roadway Express, Inc.
v. Piper, 447 U.S. 752, 100 S.Ct. 2455, 65
L.Ed.2d 488 (1980); National Hockey
League v. Metropolitan Hockey Club, Inc.,
427 U.S. 639, 96 S.Ct. 2778, 49 L.Ed.2d 747
(1976); Link v. Wabash Railroad Company,
370 U.S. 626, 82 S.Ct. 1386, 8 L.Ed.2d 734
(1962); Hazel-Atlas Glass Co. v. Hartford—
Empire Co., 322 U.S. 238, 64 S.Ct. 997, 88
L.Ed. 1250 (1944); Shillitani v. United
States, 384 U.S. 364, 86 S.Ct. 1531, 16
L.Ed.2d 622 (1966); Universal Oil Products
Co. v. Root Refining Co., 328 U.S. 575, 66
S.Ct. 1176, 90 L.Ed. 1447 (1946); Cooter &
Gell v. Hartmarx Corp., 496 U.S. 384, 110
S.Ct. 2447, 110 L.Ed.2d 359 (1990), Kokkonen
v. Guardian Life Ins. Co.,, 511 U.S. — 114
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S.Ct. 1678, 128 L.Ed.2d 391 (1994); Ex parte
Wall, 17 Otto 265, 107 U.S. 265, 2 S.Ct. 569,
27 L.Ed. 552 (1883); Ex parte Robinson, 19
Wall, 505, 86 U.S. 505, 22 L.Ed. 205 (1873);
Ex parte Bradley, 7T Wall 364, 74 U.S. 364, 19
L.Ed. 214 (1868); Malautea v. Suzuki Motor
Co., 987 F.2d 1536 (11th Cir.), cert. de-
nied, — U.S. —, 114 S.Ct. 181, 126
L.Ed.2d 140 (1993); BankAtlantic v. Blythe
Eastman Paine Webber, 12 F.3d 1045 (11th
Cir.1994); Harre v. A.H. Robins Co., 750

.2d 1501 (11th Cir.1985), opinion vacated in
part on reconsideration, 866 F.2d 1303 (11th
Cir.1989); Sizzler Fam. Steak Houses .
Western Sizzlin Steak, 793 F.2d 1529 (11th
Cir.1986); Carlucci v. Piper Aircraft Corp.,
Inc., 775 F.2d 1440 (11th Cir.1985); Brandt
v, Vulcan, Inc, 30 F.3d 752, 757 n. 7 (Tth
Cir.1994); Properties International Ltd. .
Turner, 706 F.2d 308 (11th Cir.1983); South-
erland v. Irons, 628 F.2d 978 (6th Cir.1980);
Town of Columbus v. Barringer, 85 F.2d 908
(4th Cir.1936); Porcelli v. Joseph Schlitz
Brewing Co., 78 F.R.D. 499 (E.D.Wis.1978);
and United States v. Pendergast, 35 F.Supp.
598 (W.D.Mo.1940).

[5]1 “The power to punish for contempts
is inherent in all courts; its existence is
essential to the preservation of order in judi-
cial proceedings, and to the enforcement of
the judgments, orders, and writs of the
courts, and consequently to the due adminis-
tration of justice.” FEx parte Robinson, su-
pra at 510. By statute, summary punish-
ment for contempts may be inflicted: “Ist,
where there has been misbehavior of a per-
son in the presence of the courts, or so near
thereto as to obstruct the administration of
justice; 2nd, where there has been misbehav-
ior of any officer of the courts in his official
transactions; and, 3rd, where there has been
disobedience or resistance by any officer,
party, juror, witness, or other person, to any
lavrful writ, process, order, rule, decree, or
command of the courts.” Id. at 511.

6,71 “The power to punish, as contempt,
misbehavior committed in the presence of the
court is an inherent power. Congress has
not limited the time within which it may be
punished. Perhaps there is an inherent limi-
tation in the inherent power, a limitation
arising out of laches—the punishment must

not be unreasonably delayed. - Certainly it is
not unreasonably delayed if a proceeding for
punishment is begun as soon as the misbe-
havior is discovered, particularly if the mis-
behavants, by concealment and fraud, have
prevented the discovery.” United States v.
Pendergast, 35 F.Supp. 593, 599 (W.D.Mo.
1940). The Pendergast Court explained ap-
parently limiting language in Ex parte Rob-
inson, supra, which is not quoted above.
If any doubt at all could arise from the
language of the Supreme Court in Ex
parte Robinson, supra, it certainly was
entirely dissipated in the later opinion in
Toledo Newspaper Co. v. United States,
247 U.S. 402, 38 S.Ct. 560, 62 L.Ed. 1186
[ (1918)]. It was made perfectly clear by
the opinion in that case that contempt was
not restricted to interference with ‘order
and decorum.” When the opinion is read
in connection with the opinion of the dis-
trict court in the same case (220 F. 458) it
is clear that it is the effect on the adminis-
tration of justice which is the test of
whether’ mishehavior is contempt. If the
tendency of the misbehavior is to affect the
administration of justice, it is contempt,
whether it is in the presence of the court
or at some point away from the presence
of the court, whether it affects the order
and decorum of the courtroom or does not
affect them.

Pendergast, 35 F.Supp. at 596.

[81 Civil contempt has a remedial pur-
pose, not the least of which is to give force
and vitality to judicial decrees. “The private
or public rights that the decree sought to
protect are an important measure of the
remedy.” McComb v. Jacksonville Paper
Co., 336 U.S. 187, 191, 69 S.Ct. 497, 499-500,
93 L.Ed. 599 (1949). See also, Universal
Cooperatives, Inc. v. Tribal Co-Operative
Marketing Development Federation of India,
Ltd, 45 F.3d 1194, 1196 (8th Cir.1995)
(“Sanctions are on occasion necessary ‘not
merely to penalize those whose conduct may
be deemed to warrant such a sanction, but to
deter those who might be tempted to such
conduct in the absence of such a deterrent.’
National Hockey League v. Metropolitan
Hockey Club, 427 U.S. 639, 643, 96 S.Ct.
2778, 2781, 49 L.Ed.2d 747, 751 (1976)").
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“There can be no question that courts have
inherent power to enforce compliance with
their lawful orders through civil contempt.”
Shillitant v. United States, 384 U.S. 364, 370,
86 S.Ct. 1531, 1535, 16 L.Ed.2d 622 (1966).
Here, DuPont violated not just one court
order, but an entire series of court orders,
and misrepresented its conduct to the Court.
DuPont breached its discovery obligations,
its duty to proceed in good faith, and its
representations to the Court and counsel.
DuPont elicited and presented false testimo-
ny from a key witness. DuPont argued
falsely to the Court and the jury. DuPont
diseredited the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs’ wit-
nesses with the Alta tests. DuPont’s con-
temptuous fraud on this Court was brought
to the attention of this Court as soon as
practicable after the discovery of the con-
duct. DuPont’s conduct constitutes con-
tempt of this Court.

The Court of Appeals of this circuit recent-
ly considered and addressed a situation
where, like here, the defendant “stubbornly
withheld discoverable information....” Ma-
loutea v. Suzuki Motor Co., Litd., 987 F.2d
1536, 1539 (11th Cir.1993). There, the dis-
trict court specifically found four methods
whereby the Defendants had resisted discov-
ery: first, the defendants played word
games, saying that certain words and phras-
es were not defined; second, the defendants
unilaterally limited the meaning or scope of
discovery requests; third, the defendants
failed to produce documents ordered to be
produced and in so failing showed disdain for
the Court’s orders; and fourth, the defen-
dants deliberately covered up damaging evi-
dence. See id. at 1540-41. A review of the
evidence here reveals all of the discovery
avoidance methods shown in Malautea.
Even more egregious misconduct occurred
here than occurred in Malautea.

[91 In Malautea the district court chose
to strike the defendants’ answers and enter a
default judgment against them on the issue
of liability. The Court of Appeals affirmed,
despite the defendants’ contentions that the
suppressed evidence referenced by the Court
was not encompassed by the Court’s discov-
ery orders, that the discovery orders were
vague, and that any failure to comply was
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simply a misunderstanding. See id. at 1542,
The Court of Appeals held that the Federal
Rules (there Rule 37(b)(2)(C)) “give district
judges broad discretion to fashion appropri-
ate sanctions for violation of discovery or-
ders....” Malautea, 987 F.2d at 1542.
This Court also recognizes, in accord with
the Court of Appeals’ directions, that any
sanction must be just, that is, it must com-
port with the requirements of due process,
and that certain sanctions may only be im-
posed where the district court finds a willful
or bad faith failure to obey discovery orders.
Id.

in this matter, DuPont, like Suzuki in Ma-
loutea, has argued that the Alta data and
documents were not encompassed by the
Court’s orders, that the orders were vague,
or that DuPont simply misunderstood the
orders. As reflected by this Court’s preced-
ing findings, those arguments are not sup-
ported by any credible evidence. To the
contrary, the clear and convincing evidence
directly contradicts DuPont’s positions in this
regard.

Observations About Discovery

[10,111 The obvious and overall purpose
of discovery under the Federal Rules is to
require the disclosure of all relevant informa-
tion, so that the ultimate resolution of disput-
ed issues in any civil action may be based on
a full and accurate understanding of the true
facts, and therefore embody a fair and just
result. United States v. The Procter & Gam-
ble Company, 356 U.S. 677, 682, 78 S.Ct. 983,
986, 2 L.Ed.2d 1077; Hickman v. Taylor, 329
U.S. 495, 500-01, 67 S.Ct. 385, 388-89, 91
L.Ed. 451 (1947). It is intended to operate
with minimal judicial supervision unless a
dispute arises and one of the parties files a
motion invoking judicial intervention. The
rules require that discovery be accomplished
voluntarily; that is, the parties should affir-
matively disclose relevant information with-
out the necessity of court orders compelling
disclosure. This is because lawyers are ex-
pected to act in good faith, follow the rules
and do their duty as officers of the court
seeking the truth. Malautea, supra; Pesa-
plastic, C.A. v. Cincinnati Milacron Co., 799
F.2d 1510, 1521-23 (11th Cir.1986).
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In cases involving claims of injury to per-
son or property caused by defective products
the subject matter is complex. Discovery is
necessarily complex as well.

Adversarial machinations surrounding the
discovery process are often at odds with the
stated purpose of the Federal Rules of secur-
ing the just, speedy and inexpensive determi-
nation of every action. But procedural ma-
nipulation designed to frustrate resolution of
disputes on their merits has become a com-
mon strategy.

[12,13] It is the obligation of counsel un-
der the rules, as officers of the court, to
cooperate with one another so that in the
pursuit of truth the judicial system operates
as intended; so that neither the Court nor
the litigants are put to unnecessary trouble
and expense in pursuit of the truth; and
disputes are resolved on their merits as
promptly and economically as the circum-
stances of the case permit. A litigant should
not be allowed to play games with the court
by concealing, denying, or giving an evasive
answer to what he knows to be true. Malau-
tea, supra; Pesaplastic, C.A. v. Cincinnati
Milacron Co., supra.

{14,151 The rules are binding on the par-
ties as well, and they must comply with their
obligations. Malautea, supra. Attorneys
have a continuing duty to advise their clients
of their duty to make honest, complete, non-
evasive discovery disclosures, as well as the
spectrum of sanctions they face for violating
that duty. Fed.R.Civ.P. 26(g).

{16] The Federal Rules require that
counsel make a reasonable investigation and
effort to assure that the client has provided
all information and documents available to it
which are responsive to the discovery re-
quest. It is also required that counsel certify
that the responses to discovery requests are
complete and correct, and that objections are
well grounded in fact and law and not inter-
posed for delay or other improper purpose.
Fed.R.Civ.P. 26(g); Federal Rules Advisory
Committee Notes, 1983 Amendments, Fed.
R.Civ.P. 26(g).

The courts do not have the time to micro-
manage discovery in every case. They must
depend on their officers, the lawyers, to keep

faith with their primary duty to the court as
its officers, and so make the discovery sys-
tem work by voluntarily making the required
disclosures. Counsel should not be allowed
to “sell out” to their clients. Malautea, su-
pra; Pesaplastic, C.A. v. Cincinnati Mila-
cron Co., supra.

Sometimes the source of the problem is
the litigants themselves, as is its cure. In
some types of litigation the motivation to
resist discovery is so great that offenders will
not comply with discovery unless they know
in advance that the cost of “stonewalling” wiil
be greater than the benefits. Only by impos-
ing harsh sanctions against a willfully deceit-
ful and evasive litigant do the courts take the
advantage out of such misbehavior and turn
it into a decided disadvantage. Only by do-
ing so can the courts empower their officers
to refuse involvement in such misconduct,
and give them the power to persuade their
clients that such is not in their best interests.
There will be no point in paying lavish litiga-
tion fees and costs to a lawyer to suppress
the truth if the swift and certain punishment
will follow. The choice can and should be
made simple and clear; Litigate in our courts
honestly and by the rules, or suffer the con-
sequences. The public expects and deserves
no less if confidence in our judicial system is
to be preserved, as it must be. Hogue .
Fruehauf Corp, 151 F.R.D. 635 (C.D.IIL
1993); Baker v. General Motors Corp., 159
F.R.D. 519 (W.D.Mo0.1994).

The Court’s Orders and the Federal Rules

This Court, in a series of orders dating
from June 24, 1992, required, and the parties
understood, that DuPont was obligated to
produce all Benlate related documents to the
Bush Ranch Plaintiffs. Those orders ex-
tended through and included the trial of the
Bush Ranch cases. Those orders required
the production of the Alta data and docu-
ments, and DuPont’s failure to produce such
data and documents constitutes a conscious,
willful, and deliberate violation of this Court’s
orders. See PX 29-40.

Furthermore, under the -circumstances
presented here, DuPont had a duty under
the Federal Rules to reveal the contents of
and to produce all of the Alta data and
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documents stemming from the tests conduct-
ed on the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs’ soils and
waters. As in force during the pertinent
period, Fed.R.Civ.P. 26(e)(3) provided that:

(e) Supplementation of Responses. A
party who has responded to a request for
discovery with a response that was com-
plete when made is under no duty to sup-
plement his response to include informa-
tion thereafter acquired, éxcept as follows:

(1) A party is under a duty seasonably
to supplement his response with respect to
any question directly addressed to (a) the
identity and location of persons having
knowledge of discoverable matters, and (b)
the identity of each person expected to be
called as an expert witness at trial, the
subject matter on which he is expected to
testify, and the substance of his testimony.

(2) A party is under a duty seasonably
to amend a prior response if he obtains
information upon the basis of which (a) he
knows that the response was incorrect
when made, or (b) he knows that the re-
sponse though correct when made is no
longer true and the circumstances are such
that a failure to amend the response is in
substance a knowing concealment.

(3) A duty to supplement responses may
be imposed by order of the Court, agree-
ment of the parties, or at any time prior to
trial through new requests for supplemen-
tation of prior responses.

See Anderson v. Cryovac, Inc., 862 F.2d 910,
927 n. 12 (1st Cir.1988). See also McNally v.
Yellow Cab Co., 16 F.R.D. 460 (E.D.Pa.1954)
(notwithstanding any attempt to make the
duty to supplement continuing, “it may not
be out of place for the Court to say at this
time what should be obvious, namely, that
the Defendant is bound to give truthful an-
swers to the interrogatories and that both
good faith and the spirit of the Rule require
it to see to it that its answers are truthful as
of the time of the trial as well as the time
when the interrogatories are answered”).

Pursuant to Rules 26(e)(1), (2), because the
substance of the witness Albergo’s testimony
was misrepresented at his deposition, and
because the response that the Alta data and
documents showed no evidence of SUs in the
Bush Ranch Plaintiffs’ soils and waters was
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incorrect when made and/or became no long-
er true such that DuPont’s failure to amend
that response constituted a knowing conceal-
ment, under Rule 26(e)(3), because “[a] duty
to supplement responses [kad ] been imposed
by [orders] of [this Court], agreement of the
parties, [and] ... through new requests for
supplementation of prior responses[,]” Du-
Pont had a duty to supplement its discovery
responses, including those responses con-
cerning the data obtained from tests conduct-
ed on Plaintiffs’ soils and waters. See
Anderson, supra. DuPont violated both the
letter and the spirit of the Federal Rule, and
the duty to perform its discovery obligations
in good faith, by failing to supplement its
discovery responses and by failing to respond
completely and accurately to discovery re-
quests. See McNally, supra.

[17,18] Courts broadly interpret what
constitutes an “order” for the purpose of
imposing sanctions. See Brandt v. Vulcon,
Inc, 30 F.3d 752, 756 n. 7 (Tth Cir.1994),
citing Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. v. Cammon,
No. 88 C 5549, 1989 WL 153558, at 4 (N.D.I1L.
November 7, 1989) (violation of an “order”
found where a party failed to deliver docu-
ments it promised to turn over by a certain
date), and Properties Int’l, Lid. v. Turner,
706 F.2d 308, 310 (11th Cir.1983) (order
found where a court directed a party to
provide its opponent “with complete discov-
ery”’). Notwithstanding the valid order of
this Court in place at the time DuPont’s
malfeasance occurred, and DuPont’s obli-
gation to supplement its discovery responses
with this clearly discoverable information and
relevant evidence, this Court concludes that
the correspondence between DuPont and the
Bush Ranch Plaintiffs, and the representa-
tions made during Albergo’s deposition, both
constitute agreements binding DuPont and
requiring it to produce the Alta data and
documents. These agreements are clear to
the Court, despite DuPont’s contentions here
that the correspondence reflected some othér
intent and despite the evasiveness of Du-
Pont’s counsel at Albergo’s deposition. A
fair reading of both the correspondence and
the deposition shows the Bush Ranch Plain-
tiffs’ requested all data and documents gen-
erated by the Alta tests, including “hard
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copy” and “analytical data.”" Those agree-
ments made by and with officers of the
Court, considering the discovery background
in the Bush Ranch cases, constitute, for the
purposes of this matter, “orders” of this
Court. R.F. Wehner v. Syntex Corporation,
107 F.R.D. 248 (E.D.Mo0.1985) (as a condition
for the taking of samples, which in Wehner
were in the possession of the EPA, one can
condition such taking on an agreement to
make the results available to the person or
party from whom the samples were taken).
DuPont represented as early as August 26,
1992, that DuPont would produce “every-
thing related to Benlate.” DuPont acknowl-
edged during the hearing that, at the time
the May and June of 1993 correspondence
occurred, and at the time of Albergo’s depo-
sition, outstanding Court orders required the
production of all Benlate-related documents.
These representations and acknowledge-
ments clearly indicate that DuPont knew of
its duty and makes its subsequent failure to
produce the Alta data and documents a viola-
tion of Court orders.

[19] All prior orders of this Court were
supported by the facts and the law and were
valid Court orders. “ ‘Discovery orders must
be obeyed even by those foreseeing ultimate
success in the distriet court”” Maloutea v.
Suzuki Motor Co., Ltd., 987 F.2d 1536, 1544
(11th Cir.1993), quoting United States wv.
$239,500 in U.S. Currency, 764 F.2d 771, 773
(11th Cir.1985). DuPont disagreed with this
Court’s discovery and sanctions orders in the
Bush Ranch litigation, though during the
hearing on the present petition, DuPont’s
CEO acknowledged that the Court was justi-
fied in its earlier orders. In any event,
whether DuPont agrees or disagrees with the
Court’s orders, DuPont was compelled to
obey those orders absent relief from the
appellate court, which it sought to no avail

The “Summaries” and Rule 1006

[20] The “summaries” which DuPont
sought to have admitted as evidence were not
summaries of all of the findings produced by
the Alta tests, but were selected charts and
tables showing only parts of the findings
which DuPont believed to be adequate to
lead an expert witness to testify that there

was no evidence of Benlate contamination of
the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs’ property. As al-
ready noted, the Court did not allow the
summaries to be admitted in evidence but did
allow the witness Albergo to use them as
hearsay as a basis for his opinion.

[211 Federal Rule of Evidence 1006 pro-
vides as follows:

The contents of voluminous writings, re-
cordings, or photographs which cannot
conveniently be examined in court may be
presented in the form of a chart, summary,
or calculation. The originals, or dupli-
cates, shall be made available for examina-
tion or copying, or both by other parties at
[a] reasonable time and place. The court
may order that they be produced in court.

The plain language of this rule makes it
clear that Rule 1006, if used according to its
terms, may be a vehicle to introduce charts,
summaries, or calculations into evidence.
Common sense reveals, and the case law
indicates, that the proponent of such sum-
mary must invoke and rely upon the rule.
See United States v. Atchley, 699 F.2d 1055,
1059 (11th Cir.1983) (chart introduced pursu-
ant to Rule 1006); United States v. Harmas,
974 F.2d 1262 (11th Cir.1992) (introduction of
summary evidence not error because propo-
nent laid the proper predicate and the infor-
mation summarized was before the jury in
the form of documentary evidence). See also
United States v. Meyers, 847 F.2d 1408, 1412
(9th Cir.1988) (proponent of summary of vo-
luminous writings must establish that the
underlying materials upon which the sum-
maries are based are admissible into evi-
dence, though such voluminous writings need
not always themselves be admitted); United
States v. Bakker, 925 F.2d 728, 736-37 (4th
Cir.1991) (original voluminous material need
not be introduced into evidence, but it must
be made available to the other party); Nich-
ols v. The Upjohn Co., 610 F.2d 293 (6th
Cir.1980) (documents from which summaries
created had been provided to Plaintiff prior
to trial for examination).

The summaries which DuPont sought to
introduce into evidence through Mr. Albergo
were hearsay. Albergo did not prepare
them, and he could not authenticate them,
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other than to say he received them. Nor
could Albergo vouch for the truthfulness, ac-
curacy, or completeness of the summaries.
Further, Albergo could not authenticate or
otherwise testify at all about the underlying
Alta data and documents, in that he did not
receive them, did not prepare them, did not
review them and, according to his qualifica-
tions and testimony, could not understand
them. In short, Albergo was a mouthpiece
through which DuPont furthered its fraudu-
lent scheme.

Upon the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs’ objec-
tions to the introduction of those summaries
into evidence, DuPont was obliged, if it
sought to pursue the introduction of the sum-
maries into evidence, to raise Rule 1006 as a
possible vehicle for such introduction. The
Bush Ranch Plaintiffs clearly had no duty to
nor interest in raising Rule 1006 as an “ob-
jeetion” to the summaries so as to give Du-
Pont a possible assist in introducing evidence
which was, on its face, contrary to the Plain-
tiffs’ interests. Only if DuPont had raised
Rule 1006 as a basis for the introduction of
the summaries into evidence would the Bush
Ranch Plaintiffs have had any incentive or
need to invoke the remaining aspects of that
Rule, i.e., their right to examine and/or copy
the original underlying writings. Contrary
to DuPont’s argument, the evidence does not
support a finding or conclusion that the Bush
Ranch Plaintiffs’ counsel made some strate-
gic choice to forego use of or review of the
Alta data and documents.

Finally, Rule 1006 emphasizes that the
originals, or duplicates of the originals, shall
be made available at a reasonable time and
place. The Bush Ranch Plaintiffs were justi-
fied in relying on DuPont’s obligatioris and
promises to produce the Alta data and docu-
ments. The Bush Ranch Plaintiffs had no
way of knowing prior to July 29, 1993, or
August 2, 1993, that DuPont intended to
introduce the summaries into evidence.
Even if DuPont had made some offer to
produce the Alta data and documents during
the Bush Ranch trial, which DuPont did not,
such production would not have satisfied the
mandatory requirements of Rule 1006. In
court, after the opposing party has rested
and just prior to an effort to introduce the
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summaries through a witness who did not
prepare and who could not testify about the
underlying data and documents, is not a rea-
sonable time and place.

No evidence suggests that DuPont genu-
inely intended at any time to invoke Fed.
R.Evid. 1006 as the basis for introducing the
summaries into evidence through Mr. Alber-
go. DuPont never uttered “Rule 1006;” Du-
Pont never offered, much less offered at a
reasonable time and place, the Bush Ranch
Plaintiffs an opportunity to examine and/or
copy the Alta data and documents such that
DuPont could invoke Rule 1006. DuPont
clearly has created this Rule 1006 issue after
an after-the-fact effort at justification for its
wrongful conduct, and as such, its position in
this regard is another DuPont subterfuge.

DuPont’s Claims of Privilege

[22] Dupont has contended that the Alta
data was protected from disclosure by the
attorney-client privilege and/or the work
product privilege.

This Court takes judicial notice of all mat-
ters of record in the Bush Ranch cases,
including but not limited to, all pleadings, all
motions, all briefs, all memoranda, all hear-
ing transcripts, all trial transcripts and all
orders.

[23]1 An expert bases his opinion or infer-
ence on “facts or data.” See Fed.R.Evid.
703. Thus, Albergo, if he relied on the sum-
maries prepared by Alta, also as a matter of
law relied on the facts and data generated by
these tests. The Court concludes that, as a
matter of law, the data generated during and
by the tests are facts, as opposed to a scien-
tist’s opinion formed after a review. There-
fore, whether or not Mr. Albergo relied on
them, the Alta data and documents were
responsive to the Busk Ranch Plaintiffs’ dis-
covery requests, were subject to this Court’s
orders, were not protected or privileged, and
had to be produced. Further, this Court
concludes that, as a matter of law, an expert
who relies on a summary of data or facts, by
definition relies upon the underlying data
and the facts which form the basis for the
summary. Any other conclusion negates the
responsibility of the expert to demand, and
then to form his opinion on, truthful and
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accurate information. See Marsee v. United
States Tobacco Co., 866 F.2d 319, 323 (10th
Cir.1989) (pursuant to Rule 703, an expert
relies upon fucts or data when giving an
opinion; such opinion is admissible only if it
is based on facts that meet the criteria of the
rule, that is, facts reasonably relied on by
experts in the field).

Any summary of the Alta data and docu-
ments about which Albergo the expert was to
form an opinion and testify was a summary
which had to be based on facts. Stated
otherwise, if Mr. Albergo relied on the sum-
mary of facts prepared by Alta, which a Rule
1006 summary must be, he relied on the data
and documents underlying the summary, be-
cause a summary is, or should be, nothing
more than a compilation of such facts. Be-
cause the Alta data and documents are facts,
and/or because Albergo relied on the facts
underlying the summary, which facts are the
Alta tests and the data and doecuments gener-
ated thereby, the Alta data and documents
had to be produced.

The case of United States Postal Service v.
Phelps Dodge Refining Corp., 852 F.Supp.
156 (E.D.N.Y.1994), is remarkably similar to
this case as to this issue and is illustrative of
this situation. There, the Court had to grap-
ple with claims of attorney-client privilege as
to data and documents generated by an engi-
neering firm, Hart & Associates, and a con-
sulting firm, Conestoga—Rovers, which to-
gether were hired to conduct environmental
studies of soil, oversee remedial work and
develop a supplementary remedial program.
See id. at 161. The Court first stated that:

[TIhe attorney-client privilege may cover

“communications made to agents of an at-

torney ... hired to assist in the rendition

of legal services” United States w.

Schwimmer, 892 F.2d 237, 243 (2d Cir.

1989), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 810, 112 S.Ct.
- 55,116 L.Ed.2d 31 (1991); United States v.

Kovel, 296 F.2d 918 (2d Cir.1961). In Kov-

el, Judge Friendly ruled that “the attor-

ney-client privilege can attach to reports of
third parties made at the request of the
attorney or the client where the purpose of
the report was to put in usable form infor-
mation obtained from the client.” Federal
Trade Comm’n v. TRW, Inc., 628 F.2d 207,

212 (D.C.Cir.1980). The Kovel court “anal-
ogized the role of the accountant to that of
a translator who puts the client’s informa-
tion into terms that the attorney can use
effectively.” Id.

As explained in 2 Jack B. Weinstein &
Margaret A. Berger, Weinstein’s Evi-
dence para. 503(2)(3)[01] at 503-31 to 38
(1993), the application of the privilege in
Kowvel is now recognized as extending to
representatives of the attorney, such as
accountants; administrative practitioners
not admitted to the bar; and nontestifying
experts. See also Edward M. Spiro &
Caroline Rule, ‘Kovel’ Experts Cloaked by
Attorney-Client Privilege, N.Y.L.J., Feb.
22, 1994, at S1, S10 (privilege has been
applied to “communications with a psychi-
atrist assisting a lawyer in forming a de-
fense, a bail bondsman, and a polygraph
operator”).

Neither Hart nor Conestoga—Rovers fall
within any of these recognized categories
of representatives or agents for purposes
of the attorney-client privilege. They can-
not be characterized as administrative
practitioners since they were not employed
by Phelps Dodge attorneys specifically to
assist them in rendering legal advice. In
fact, they were hired by defendants to for-
mulate a remediation plan acceptable to
the NYSDEC and to oversee remedial
work af the Property. Their function was
not to put information gained from defen-
dants into usable form for their attorneys
to render legal advice, but rather, to collect
information not obtainable directly from
defendants. Nor could the consultant be
characterized as non-testifying experts.
Earlier in this case, when defendants at-
tempted to shield from discovery studies
prepared by Conestoga—Rovers and Gitlen
for other clients, defendants denied that
these consultants served as experts and
stated that if either consultant testified at
trial, it would do so as o factual witness
and not as an expert.

* * * ’ * * *

Defendants have made a claim of attor-
ney-client privilege that goes well beyond
the “outer boundary” of the privilege. Un-
like the computer study at issue in TRW,
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which arguably was undertaken to assist
the attorneys in litigation, the studies and
work performed by Hart and Conestoga-
Rovers clearly served other purposes.
Moreover, these consultants based their
opinions on factual and scientific evidence
they generated through studies and collect-
ed through observation of the physical con-
dition of the Property, information that
did not come through client confidences.
Such underlying factual data can never be
protected by the attorney-client privilege
and meither can the resulting opinions
and recommendations. There are few, if
any, concetvable circumstances where a
scientist or engineer employed to gather
data should be considered an agent within
the scope of the privilege: since the infor-
mation collected will generally be factual,
obtained from sources. other than the
client.

Because employees of Hart and Conesto-
ga—Rovers are outside the attorney-client
privilege documents they have prepared
are discoverable.

(Emphasis supplied.) United States Postal
Service, 852 F.Supp. at 161-62.

This Court concludes likewise. The Alta
data and documents are fucts, and thus, the
data and documents should have been pro-
duced for all of the reasons set forth herein.
Alta is not an agent of the attorneys such
that any protection from production properly
could be asserted. These facts are not pro-
tected by any privilege, be it attorney-client
or the work-product doctrine. DuPont iden-
tified Alta and its principals Bethem and
Petersen as fact witnesses and as persons
with knowledge. DuPont represented, in ar-
guing that this Court allow Mr. Albergo to
testify about the Alta tests, that the Alta
personnel were fact witnesses. DuPont rep-
resented in other courts that Bethem and
Petersen were fact witnesses.. As in United
States Postal Service, Albergo was hired to
formulate a remediation plan and Alfa was
hired to collect information. Their function
was not merely to put information gained
from DuPont into usable form such that the
attorney could use the information effective-
ly. Alta generated factual and scientific evi-
dence through testing; it did not obtain in-
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formation through client confidences. In
producing documents upon which Albergo re-
lied for his opinion, DuPont was obligated
and under court order to produce the Alta
data and documents.

[24,25] “Mutual knowledge of all the rel-
evant facts gathered by both parties is es-
sential to proper litigation.” Hickman v.
Taylor, supra. As the Bush Ranch cases
developed, this Court held that either party
could claim a protection from discovery
based upon the work product doctrine only if
the information or the documents for which
such protection was asserted was properly
identified in a timely prepared and served
privilege log. Moreover, as the Bush Ranch
cases developed, this Court held that the
Plaintiffs had shown “substantial need” for,
and had required DuPont to produce all in-
formation and documents related to tests,
the results of which would be used in the
“defense” of the litigation. DuPont in fact
waived its claim of work product protection
to all information and documents related to
test results which would be used in defense
of the litigation.

DuPont did not assert on any log or at any
other time a claim of work product protection
as the basis for its non-production of the Alta
data and documents. This Court did not
alter its prior orders holding that the Bush
Ranch Plaintiffs had shown substantial need
for all information and documents related to
tests where DuPont intended to use the re-
sults in defense of the litigation. DuPont did
not retract its waiver of any claim of work
product protection as to tests the results of
which would be used in defense of the litiga-
tion. The Alta data and documents were not
protected from production, therefore, on the
ground of the work product doctrine. See
United States Postal Service, supra. See
also 4 Moore’s Federal Practice § 26-66, at
26-403 to 26-406 (1991) ((1) factual portions
of expert’s report discoverable; (2) citing
E.I. du Pont De Nemours & Co. v. Phillips
Petroleum Co., 24 F.R.D. 416 (D.Del.1959),
production of copies of memoranda and re-
ports concerning the manner in which tests
had been made is required; and (3) party
engaging expert has no vested right in keep-
ing secret any relevant facts ).
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The attorney-client privilege claim is inval-
id. The work product privilege claim is in-
valid.

DuPont’s “They Didn't Ask for It” Defense

[26] DuPont has contended that neither
the discovery requests of the Bush Ranch
Plaintiffs nor the orders of the Court re-
quired the production of the Alta data and
documents and that since “they never asked
for them” DuPont should not be faulted for
not voluntarily producing them.

“Tt is well recognized that complete and
aceurate responses to discovery are impera-
tive to the functioning of the modern trial
process.” Awverbach v. Rival Manufacturing
Co., 879 F.2d 1196, 1201 (3rd Cir.1989), cert.
denied, 493 U.S. 1023, 110 S.Ct. 726, 107
L.Ed.2d 745 (1989), citing Rozier v. Ford
Motor Co., 573 F.2d 1332, 1346 (5th Cir.1978)
(“It is axiomatie that ‘[d)iscovery by interrog-
atory requires candor in responding.’”)
(quoting Dollar v. Long Mfy., N.C., 561 F.2d
613, 616 (5th Cir.1977), cert. denied, 435 U.S.
996, 98 S.Ct. 1648, 56 L.Ed.2d 85 (1978)).
The Averbach Court continued:

The pre-trial deposition-discovery mech-
anism established by Rules 26 to 37 is one
of the most significant innovations of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Under
the prior federal practice, the pre-trial
functions of notice giving, issue formula-
tion and fact revelation were performed
primarily and inadequately by the plead-
ings.... The new rules, however, invest
the deposition-discovery process with a vi-
tal role in the preparation for trial. The
various instruments of discovery now serve
(1) as a device ... to narrow and clarify
the basic issues between the parties, and
(2) as a device for ascertaining the facts, or
information as to the existence or where-
abouts of facts, relative to those issues.
Thus, civil trials in federal courts no longer
need be carried on in the dark. The way
is now clear ... for the parties to obtain
the fullest possible knowledge of the issues
and facts before trial. Hickman v. Taylor,
329 U.S. 495, 500-01, 67 S.Ct. 385, 388-89,
91 L.Ed. 451 (1947) (footnotes omitted).
The “[m]odern instruments of discovery”
are thus a principal means by which trials
are rendered “less a game of blindman’s

buff [sic] and more 2 fair contest with the
basic issues and facts diselosed to the full-
est practicable extent.” Unifed States v.
Procter & Gamble Co., 356 U.S. 677, 682,
78 S.Ct. 983, 986, 2 L.Ed.2d 1077 (1958).
See generally C. Wright & A. Miller, Fed-
eral Practice and Procedure § 2001 at 15
(1970) (describing purposes and uses of
discovery).

The Federal Rules themselves recognize
the reliance aspect of discovery, permitting
parties to request information inadmissible
at trial where such request is “reasonably
caleulated to lead to the discovery of ad-
missible evidence.” See Fed.R.Civ.P.
26(b)(1). Discovery could not serve the
function of triggering subsequent inquiry if
parties were not entitled to rely on the
results obtained at each step. See Rozier,
573 F.2d at 1345 (“Our system of civil
litigation cannot function if parties ...
suppress information called for upon dis-
covery.”)

Awverbach, 879 F.2d at 1201.

The Averbach Court concluded that a par-
ty “certainly cannot be faulted for failing to
pry further by discovery into the very same
inquiry aborted by [the defendant’s] mislead-
ing answer.” Id. at 1201. The same legal
and common sense principle applies to this
situation: where DuPont provided to the
Bush Ranch Plaintiffs at Albergo’s deposi-
tion a misleading summary which did not
reflect the suspected positives where DuPont
had agreed prior to and during Albergo’s
deposition to provide all of the data generat-
ed by and during the Alta tests of the Bush
Ranch Plaintiffs’ soils; where on July 28,
1993, DuPont belatedly produced to the Bush
Ranch Plaintiffs, among numerous other doc-
uments including other laboratory summaries
and some raw data, additional Alta summar-
ies, but DuPont failed at that time to include
any of the Alta data and documents which
only subsequently came to light in the Ha-
waii litigation; where; in any event, DuPont
did not have available in Columbus, Georgia,
during the trial all of the Alta data and
documents, particularly those documents in-
dicating the existence or presence of SUs in
the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs’ soils and those
revealing DuPont’s role in the creation of the
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misleading summaries; and where DuPont
did not at any time after June 26, 1993, make
available to Plaintiffs the Alta data and docu-
ments.

The Averbach Court discussed the duty of
litigants to answer truthfully in discovery,
and the propriety of opposing litigants to
accept as true such answers and representa-
tions and then to act in reliance on such
truthfulness.

A litigant is entitled to aceept answers to
previous interrogatories as true, and to
refrain from seeking additional discovery
directed to the same issue. Because the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure are
structured to elicit truthful answers given
under oath, the opposing party, in circum-
stances such as presented here, may rea-
sonably rely on interrogatory answers.

The Fifth Circuit in Rozier faced an
analogous issue. After concluding that
Ford Motor Company falsely stated in an-
swers to interrogatories that it possessed
no reports of the type the plaintiff in-
quired about, the court held that a new
trial was warranted under a timely Rule
60(b)(3) motion because of Ford’s misrep-
resentation. The court stated that Ford’s
nondisclosure prevented plaintiff from ful-
ly and fairly presenting her case because
“[ilnevitably, information developed in the
discovery stages of the case influenced the
decision as to which theories would be em-
phasized at trial.” 573 F.2d at 1342. The
court thus concluded that, “[wle are left
with the firm conviction that disclosure of
the [requested information] would ‘have
made a difference in the way plaintiff’s
counsel approached the case or prepared
for trial.’” Id. (citation omitted).

We noted in our earlier opinion in this
case that the purpose of asking for infor-
mation under penalty of false swearing in
the court of discovery and of responding to
such requests is “self-evident.” Averbach
[v. Riwval Manufacturing Co.], 809 F.2d
{1016] at 1020 [ (8rd Cir.1987)]. If the
appellate courts recognize the discovery
responses are calculated to elicit reliance,
certainly we must uphold the jury’s specif-
ic finding that there was such reliance.
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Averbach, 879 F2d at 1201-02 (footnote
omitted).

The Bush Ranch Plaintiffs had done all
that any litigant reasonably can be expected
to do to obtain the production of relevant
information and to bring DuPont into compli-
ance with this Court’s orders. Numerous
motions, briefs, letters, hearings, and orders
attest to those facts. The Bush Ranch Plain-
tiffs were entitled to rely on the factual
accuracy of DuPont’s summary produced at
Mr. Albergo’s deposition, and DuPont’s
promises to produce the “hard copy” analyt-
ical data, on DuPont’s agreements and prom-
ises in correspondence to produce all of the
data and documents generated by the soils
and waters tests, on DuPont’s compliance
with this Court’s outstanding orders. Unfor-
tunately, DuPont was not candid, and it did
not comply. The evidence sought was en-
compassed within the discovery requests; it
was required to be produced by the Court’s
orders and DuPont had promised that it
would be produced. The Bush Ranch Plain-
tiffs were not then required to go to DuPont
and ask on bended knee that it be produced.
DuPont’s “didn’t ask” defense is not worthy
of serious consideration.

In a case somewhat similar factually to the
situation before this Court, though the relief
sought was different, the Court of Appeals
for the First Circuit discussed a defendant’s
failure to inform plaintiff or to produce to
plaintiff information and documents evidenc-
ing contamination of property.  See
Anderson v. Cryovac, Inc., 862 F.2d 910 (Ist
Cir.1988). Numerous conclusions of law set
forth there are applicable here.

[27] (a) “In the case of intentional mis-
conduct, as where the concealment was
knowing and purposeful, it seems fair to
presume that suppressed evidence would
have damaged the nondisclosing party.” Id.
at 925, citing among other cases Nation-
Wide Check Corp. v. Forest Hills Distribu-
tors, Inc., 692 F.2d 214, 217-19 (1st Cir.1982)
(deliberate nonproduction or destruction of
relevant documents is “evidence” that the
party which has prevented produection did so
out of the well-founded fear that the contents
would harm him).
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{281 (b) “It seems equally logical that
where discovery material is deliberately sup-
pressed, its absence can be presumed to have
inhibited the unearthing of further admissi-
ble evidence adverse to the withholder, that
is, to have substantially interfered with the
aggrieved party’s trial preparation. See Al-
exander v. National Farmers Organization,
637 F.2d 1173, 1205-06 (8th Cir.1982) (where
documents deliberately destroyed, court
should draw factual inferences adverse to
party responsible); Telectron, Inc. v. Gver-
head ~Door Corp, 116 F.R.D. 107, 134
(S.D.Fla.1987) (where destruction was moti-
vated by ‘flagrant bad faith’ conduct ‘war-
rant[ed] the inference that the destroyed
documents would have been harmful to [de-
stroyer]’; resultant unavailability ‘must
therefore be seen as prejudicial to [innocent
party’s] interest in pursuing the full and fair
litigation of its claims’); National Associa-
tion of Radiation Survivors v. Turnage, 115
F.R.D. 543, 557 (N.D.Cal.1987) (‘Where one
party wrongfully denies another the evidence
necessary to establish a fact in dispute, the
court must draw the strongest allowable in-
ferences in favor of the aggrieved party.).”
Anderson, 862 F.2d at 925.

DuPont’s “Releases” Defense

[29] We have heretofore noted that while
the Bush Ranch jury was deliberating the
parties reached agreement on a settlement,
and releases were signed. DuPont has con-
tended that these releases bar the parties
instituting this show cause proceeding.

Neither the releases nor the pre-release
agreement put in evidence by DuPont bar
the Court from considering the fraud on the
Court alleged in the petition. No agreement
between private parties can deprive the
Court of its power to conduct an investiga-
tion into and rendering rulings on an alleged
fraud upon this Court. . See Hazel-Atlas
Glass Co. v. Hartford-Empire Co., 322 U.S.
238, 64 S.Ct. 997, 88 L.Ed. 1250 (1944); Uni-
versal Oil Products Co. v. Root Refining Co.,
328 U.S. 575, 66 S.Ct. 1176, 90 L.Ed. 1447
(1946). See also Glover v. Southern Bell
Telephone & Telegraph Co., 229 Ga. 874, 195
S.E2d 11 (1972) (release only effective ab-
sent fraud). Further, the conduct alleged in

the petition and in the memorandum/appen-
dix in support, and the evidence of such
conduct heard and seen by this Court, is not
conduct “released” by the parties. The lan-
guage contained ‘in such releases and pre-
release agreement does not contain language
specifically releasing matters arising from
the misconduct alleged. See U.S. Anchor
Mfy., Inc. v. Rule Industries, Inc., 27 F.3d
521 (11th Cir.1994). See also U.S. Anchor
Mfy., Inc. v. Rule Industries, Inc., 7 F.3d
986, 1004 (11th Cir.1993).

Due Process

{301 Due process of law requires that

sanctions “not be assessed lightly or without

fair notice and an opportunity for a hearing
on the record” Roadway Express Inc. v.
Piper, 447 U.8. 752, 767, 100 S.Ct. 2455, 2464,
65 L.Ed.2d 488 (1980) (footnote omitted), cit-
ing Societe Internationale v. Rogers, 357
U.S. 197, 208-212, 78 S.Ct. 1087, 1094-1096, 2
L.Ed.2d 1255 (1958). DuPont received fair
notice and has been afforded ample opportu-
nity to be heard on the record. This Court
has thoroughly reviewed and has given care-
ful consideration to the evidence presented
and to the arguments of counsel and to their
post-hearing submissions. The Court is
keenly aware of the seriousness of this mat-
ter. The Court concludes that due process of
law has been afforded.

DuPont’s Responsibility

[31]1 Although it was the lawyers for the
Dupont corporation whose acts of conceal-
ment and misrepresentation were the imme-
diate cause of damage, the circumstances
may justify imposition of sanctions on the
corporation. See Geller v. Randi, 40 F.3d
1300, 1804-05 (D.C.Cir.1994).

[321 Counsel’s knowledge and behavior
should be imputed to the client. The Su-
preme Court has said:

There is certainly no merit to the con-
tention that dismissal of petitioner’s claim
because of his counsel’s unexcused eonduct
imposes an unjust penalty on the client.
Petitioner voluntarily chose this attorney
as his representative in the action, and he
cannot now avoid the consequences of the
acts or omissions of this freely selected
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agent. Any other notion would be wholly
inconsistent with our system of representa-
tive litigation, in which each party is
deemed bound by the acts of his lawyer-
agent and is considered to have “notice of
all facts, notice of which can be charged
upon the attorney.” Smith v. Ayer, 101
U.S. 320, 326, 25 L.Ed. 955 [ (1962) 1.

Link v Wabash Railroad Company, 370
U.S. 626, 633-34, 82 S.Ct. 1386, 1390, 8
L.Ed.2d 734 (1962) (footnote omitted).

[33,34] “Under elementary agency prin-
ciples, a corporation is personified through
the acts of its agents. Thus, the acts of its
agents become the acts of the corporation as
a single entity.” United States v. Hartley,
678 F.2d 961, 970 (11th Cir.1982) (antitrust
conspiracy case), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1170,
103 S.Ct. 815, 74 L.Ed.2d 1014 (1983).
“[TThe general rule is that a principal is
chargeable with and bound by the knowledge
of his agent while acting within the scope of
his authority.” First Ala. Bank v. First
State Ins. Co., Inc., 899 F.2d 1045, 1061 n. 8
(11th Cir.1990). The first and oldest theory
explaining this general rule is in the legal
identity of the agent with the principal dur-
ing the continuance of the agency. “In other
words, the agent, while acting within the
scope of his agency is, as to the matter
embraced within the agency, the principal
himself or the alter ego of the principal. See
Holmes, The Common Law, 232 (1890).”
First Ala. Bank, 899 F.2d at 1061 n. 8.

[35] The evidence presented during the
hearing on the petition revealed that DuPont
was Alta’s client and that DuPont paid Alta.
The evidence revealed that Alta communicat-
ed with DuPont’s counsel, Alston & Bird,
with regard to the tests conducted, their use
in the Bush Ranch litigation, and the manner
of their presentation. The evidence also re-
veals that DuPont’s scientist and legal liai-
son, Dr. David Johnson, was in the offices of
Alston & Bird during the week or weeks
during which expert depositions were sched-
uled, and that he was likely involved in meet-
ings with Alston & Bird attorneys while con-
versations occurred involving such counsel
and Alta. When questioned about contacts
with DuPont with regard to the Alta data
and documents, the DuPont witness invoked
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the attorney-client privilege, which, by impli-
cation, indicates that some communications
occurred. At Albergo’s deposition, DuPont’s
witness Albergo produced to the Bush Ranch
Plaintiffs’ counsel a document prepared by
Alta and sent by facsimile to DuPont counsel,
Alston & Bird. Alta entered into a confiden-
tiality arrangement with DuPont counsel Al-
ston & Bird. According to testimony at the
hearing, DuPont had available in the court-
room during the Bush Ranch cases some of
the disputed Alta data and documents. Dur-
ing this hearing, DuPont for the first time
claimed Alta as a consultant rather than a
fact witness.

Those facts mean that Alta was, at least
for the purpose of conducting these tests and
for the purposes of the matters raised in the
petition, an agent for, or sufficiently under
the control of, or in privity with, DuPont.
Likewise, so was Alston & Bird. DuPont
CEQ, Mr. Woolard, acknowledged as much
at the hearing on the show cause petition.
DuPont is charged with all of the knowledge
which Alta and/or Alston & Bird possessed,
and DuPont had sufficient possession, custo-
dy, or control over the Alta data and docu-
ments such that DuPont controlled the pro-
duction, or non-production, of them. See
also Pesaplastic, C.A. v. Cincinnati Mila-
cron Co., 799 F.2d 1510, 152122 (11th Cir.
1986) (selective production of documents and
ability to obtain documents place the docu-
ments within the party’s possession, custody,
and control).

[36] The actions taken, and the state-
ments made, by DuPont counsel and other
representatives here in this court, and in
other courts around the United States, prop-
erly may be considered in this matter pursu-
ant to the doctrines and concepts of judicial
and evidentiary admissions, estoppel and rat-
ification. See, e.g., LWT, Inc. v. Childers, 19
F.3d 539 (10th Cir.1994) (inconsistent allega-
tions contained in prior pleadings are admis-
sible as evidence in subsequent litigation);
Pullman v. Bullard, 44 F.2d 347 (6th Cir.
1930) (admissions in pleadings may be admit-
ted into evidence and, unless withdrawn or
stricken, may work an estoppel to deny them
on the party making them); W.T. Harvey
Lumber Co. v. J.M. Wells Lumber Co., Inc.,
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104 Ga.App. 498, 122 S.E.2d 143 (1961) (at-
torney is such an agent of client that his
declarations made during the course of his
employment may be offered against his prin-
cipal); Ewveritt v. Harris, 67 Ga.App. 64, 19
S.E.2d 545 (1942) (letter written by attorney
on behalf of client may be considered as an
admission by client); Jabaley v. Jabaley, 208
Ga.App. 179, 430 S.E.2d 119 (1993) (admis-
sions can be found in motions); Foster v.
State, 157 Ga.App. 554, 278 S.E.2d 136 (1981)
(admissions in one action can be evidence in
another action); Cox v. Administrator, 17
F.3d 1386 (11th Cir.1994) (principal can ratify
even the unauthorized act of an agent pur-
portedly done on behalf of principal either
expressly or by implication through conduct
that is inconsistent with an intent to repudi-
ate the unauthorized act; proof of authoriza-
tion or ratification can be through circum-
stantial evidence, and all that need to be
shown is knowing tolerance), modified, 30
F.3d 1347 (11th Cir.1994); Computel, Inc. v.
Ewmery Air Freight Corp., 919 F.2d 678 (11th
Cir.1990) (under general agency rules a cor-
poration (principal) will be vicariously liable
for wrongful acts of employees (agents) when
the acts are related to and within the course
of employment, committed in furtherance of
the corporation’s business, and authorized or
subsequently acquiesced in by the corpora-

tion). See also Fed.R.Evid. 801(d)(1) and
@@); O0.C.G.A. §§ 24-3-30, 24-3-34, and
24-4-24.,

This Court views the statements and rep-
resentations made by DuPont counsel and
representatives, and the conduct shown by
same, as evidentiary admissions subject to
rebuttal. However, as regards rebuttal, as
the findings here make clear, this Court finds
and concludes that DuPont, through its rep-
resentatives, agents, and/or counsel, is not
credible as to the issues surrounding the Alta
data and documents. Thus, DuPont’s state-
ments, representations and conduet support
the Petitioners’ contention that DuPont has
violated this Court’s orders and has: commit-
ted a fraud upon this Court.

The Court found that DuPont had directed
the progress of the Bush Ranch cases. The
Court also reiterates that DuPont’s CEO tes-
tified before this Court during the hearing on

the present petition and he testified that he
had been made aware of this Court’s orders
throughout the Bush Ranch cases and that
now, today, he fully supports the actions
taken by and the conduct of DuPont’s repre-
sentatives, agents, and/or counsel. More-
over, Mr. Woolard acknowledged that the
responsibility for all such statements, repre-
sentations and conduct rests with DuPont.
In so doing, DuPont has endorsed, autho-
rized, directed, acquiesced in, and ratified
what happened here.

As applied to this matter, the Court con-
cludes that, because both Alta and DuPont’s
counsel Alston & Bird had knowledge of the
Alta information, and the possession of the
Alta data and documents, DuPont had actual
or constructive kinowledge of the information
contained in, and had actual or constructive
possession of, the Alta data and documents,
from prior to Albergo’s deposition through
and including trial. Both Alta and Alston &
Bird ultimately were employed by and/or
paid by DuPont. During the hearing on the
petition, DuPont witnesses invoked an attor-
ney-client privilege when questioned about
whethier loeal counsel had discussed the Alta
data and documents with DuPont Legal De-
partment. The Alta data and documents
were subject to seasonably propounded dis-
covery requests, Court orders, and/or agree-
ments between and among the parties. Du-
Pont consciously, and, therefore, knowingly,
purposefully, deliberately, willfully and in -
bad faith, concealed and suppressed the in-
formation and documents. This misconduct
gives rise to a rebuttable presumption that
the suppressed information and evidence
would have led to other admissible evidence
and that both the suppressed information
and other evidence which may have been
discovered would have been adverse to Du-
Pont. DuPont has not rebutted this pre-
sumption and has not shown by clear and
convineing evidence that its nondisclosure
was unintentional or that the withheld mate-
rial was inconsequential. In fact, credible
testimony reveals that different scientists can
reach and have reached different conclusions
and could form and have formed different
opinions with respect to the Alta data and
documents. Other Courts have found that
such other conclusions and opinions exist and
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have validity. DuPont witnesses, during the
hearing on the show cause order, admitted
that the matters revealed in, by and through
the Alta data and documents were a subject
of scientific debate and a question for the
Jury upon the presentation of both sides.
The evidence and DuPont’s admissions make
it clear that the Alta data and documents
were manifestly relevant to the Bush Ranch
cases. Thus, contrary to rebutting the pre-
sumption, the clear and convincing evidence
reveals that the Alta data and documents
were of significant consequence and that Du-
Pont’s wrongful failure to produce the data
and documents prejudiced the Bush Ranch
Plaintiffs. See also O0.C.G.A. § 24-4-22.
The evidence also clearly reveals that not
only did DuPont not make all reasonable
efforts to comply with the Court’s. orders
requiring the production of the Alta data and
documents, it also consciously, willfully, in-
tentionally, and deliberately withheld and
concealed that data and documents. Rather,
if DuPont is to be believed, it caused and
allowed that data and those documents, or
part of them, to sit undisclosed in a box in
the courtroom. To this date, neither the box
nor the Alta data and documents have been
produced by DuPont to this Court for the
Court’s examination and review. Were it not
for Petitioners having discovered the exis-
tence of that data and those documents and
having brought them in for this Court to
review, DuPont’s fraud on this Court would
have gone undiscovered.

The Precedents

During the numerous hearings which were
held prior to the Bush Ranch trial, in an
effort to bring DuPont into compliance with
its discovery obligation, the Court empha-
sized the egregiousness of DuPont’s conduct
and the prejudice the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs
had suffered on account of it. The Court
imposed monetary sanctions of $500,000.00,
which were later increased to $1,000,000.00,
which amounts were subject to reconsidera-
tion, upward or downward, depending on Du-
Pont’s conduet. The Court informed DuPont
that the Court was seriously considering the
sanction of default or of striking DuPont’s
answer. In the face of all of the above, and
more, DuPont still did not produce the Alta
data and documents, which directly and eriti-
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cally concerned the presence of SUs in the
Bush Ranch Plaintiffs’ soils and waters that
allegedly were present there due to the con-
tamination of Benlate, or benomyl, by Du-
Pont’s SUs. This Court gives no credence to
DuPont’s arguments that the Court’s orders
did not encompass the Alta data and docu-
ments, or that those orders were vague, or
that DuPont reasonably misunderstood the
orders. In fact, those arguments seem little
more than a continuation of the fraud on this
Court.

In this situation there is ample precedent
for the imposition of sanctions. We have
earlier made reference to the decision of the
Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit in
Maloutea v. Suzuki Motor Co., Lid., supra.
In that case the District Court outlined the
various methods whereby the Defendants re-
sisted discovery, and it will be noted that
they were remarkably similar to the methods
used by DuPont in this case. The District
Court chose to strike the Defendants’ an-
swers and entered a default judgment
against them on the issue of liability. In the
Court of Appeals the Defendants argued that
the suppressed evidence referred to by the
District Court was not encompassed by the
Court’s discovery orders, that the discovery
orders were vague, and that any failure to
comply was simply a misunderstanding
which, of course, are the same arguments
made by DuPont in this case.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the decision
of the District Court. The Court of Appeals
for the Eleventh Circuit likewise affirmed
the District Court’s imposition of sanctions in
BankAtlantic v. Blythe Eastman Paine Web-
ber, 12 F.3d 1045 (11th Cir.1994). In that
case the defendant, Paine Webber, promised
during a hearing on a motion to compel, like
DuPont through local and in-house counsel
promised during an in-chambers hearing in
the Bush Ranch cases, to produce all docu-
ments in its custody, control or possession
relating to an issue before the Court. See id.
at 1047. The BankAtlantic Court relied on
Paine Webber’s representations, just as this
Court has repeatedly relied on DuPont’s rep-
resentations, including those made by Du-
Pont’s CEO. Paine Webber argued that no
court order directed it to produce the docu-
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ments in dispute, - that BankAtlantic had
proved no prejudice, that BankAtlantic had
failed to show that the documents were in
Paine Webber’s possession and that the doc-
uments were irrelevant and immaterial. See
id. at 1048. The District Court found against
Paine Webber’s arguments and imposed
sanctions.

In its opinion the Court of Appeals first
observed that “ ‘the standard of review for an
appellate court in considering an appeal -of
sanctions under Rule 37 is sharply limited to
a search for an abuse of discretion and a
determination that the findings of the trial
court are fully supported by the record.””
Id. at 1048, quoting Pesaplastic C.A. v. Cin-
cinmati Milacron Co., 799 F.2d 1510, 1519
(11th Cir.1986). The Court also cited Car-
lucei v. Piper Aiveraft Corp., Inc, 775 F.2d
1440, 144647 (11th Cir.1985), for the propo-
sition that federal courts have inherent pow-
er to impose appropriate sanctions for a par-
ty’s failure to comply with court orders.
BankAtlantic, 12 F.3d at 1048.

The District Court found, and the Court of
Appeals affirmed the finding, that Paine
Webber’s counsel failed to meet its obligation
to search Paine Webber’s corporate files and
that counsel acted in complete disregard of
its responsibilities. The District Court found
that Paine Webber had custody and control
over the documents at issue such that the
documents should have been produced. The
District Court found the concealed docu-
ments manifestly relevant and concluded that
BankAtlantic’s learning of the discovery vio-
lation on the eve of trial prejudiced the plain-
tiff. The Court of Appeals affirmed these
findings.

This Court ordered DuPont to produce all
Benlate-related documents. DuPont repre-
sented to this Court that it would produce all
Benlate related documents. DuPont repre-
sented to the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs that, if it
were allowed to come onto the Bush Ranch
Plaintiffs’ properties to obtain samples for
testing, it would produce to them all materi-
als generated as a consequence of that test-
ing. DuPont had access to and had custody
and control of the Alta data and documents
from mid-June, when the testing began, for-
ward. The Alta data and documents should

have been produced. That they were not
produced violated this Court’s orders. The
Alta data and documents were manifestly
relevant, and DuPont’s failure to produce
them <clearly prejudiced the Bush Ranch
Plaintiffs’ opportunity to obtain a fair trial
and denied them a fair trial. At a minimum,
the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs were deprived of
an opportunity to review the Alta data and
documents, to obtain scientific review of
same, to present testimony and/or cross-ex-
amine witnesses about the significance of the
suspected positive findings and the detection
limits changes, and to argue to the jury
about the meaning of the evidence. Had the
Alta data and documents been produced, Du-
Pont could not have argued to the Court and
to the jury that no evidence existed which
showed the presence of DuPont’s SUs in the
Bush Ranch Plaintiffs’ soils and waters. Du-
Pont’s failure to come into compliance with
the Court’s discovery and sanctions orders is
now manifest, contrary to DuPont’s untrue
representations which were made to this
Court in a motion to vacate submitted at the
end of the Bush Ranch trial. This Court
engaged in the judicial act of vacating its
orders and the sanctions imposed there, in
reliance on the truthfulness of DuPont’s rep-
resentations. DuPont’s fraudulent conduct
warrants severe sanctions.

CONCLUSION

Having heard and reviewed all of the rele-
vant evidence, the Court concludes that Du-
Pont, in light of the hundreds of claims and
lawsuits which had arisen out of the use of its
product Benlate 50DF, decided that it would
not reveal the potentially damaging evidence
generated by the Alta tests. DuPont was
faced with a difficult decision on the eve of
the first Benlate-related trial—to produce
data and documents which would authorize a
jury to conclude that the Bush Ranch Plain-
tiffs’ soils and waters contained DuPont SUs,
data and documents which by their use in the
Bush Ramch case would be available to claim-
ants and plaintiffs all over the United States,
or to conceal that data and those documents.
DuPont made the wrong choice.

DuPont consciously and deliberately with-
held the Alta data and documents from the



1556

Plaintiffs and the Court, and perhaps even
from the witness Albergo, thereby withhold-
ing this information from future litigants as
well. DuPont urged falsely to the Court and
elicited false testimony about what Albergo
had done, and what he knew, and what the
evidence, in fact, arguably showed. DuPont
deprived the Plaintiffs, the Court, and the
jury of data and documents highly relevant
to the issue which DuPont itself described as
the most critical issue in the case. DuPont
continued its concealment and deception to
the extent of presenting to this Court know-
ingly untrue representations about DuPont’s
compliance with its discovery obligations and
with this Court’s orders with the accom-
plished purpose of fraudulently obtaining an
untrue order from this Court to abselve Du-
Pont of its misconduct, and to relieve DuPont
of sanctions it richly deserved.

DuPont’s conduct with regard to the Alta
data and documents, beginning with conduct
prior to Mr. Albergo’s deposition, and con-
tinuing through the Bush Ranch trial and to
the present, was willful, deliberate, conscious,
purposeful, deceitful, and in bad faith. That
conduct affected the fairness of the trial and
prevented the full and fair presentation and
consideration of the evidence. DuPont’s con-
duct affected the course of the Bush Ranch
trial from beginning to end-—from opening
statement to closing argument. DuPont’s
conduct affected the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs’
trial preparation and trial conduct. DuPont’s
conduet affected the rulings and the orders
of this Court and interfered with the admin-
istration of justice. In short, DuPont’s con-
duct deprived the Bush Ranch Plaintiffs of a
fair trial and made that trial, which lasted
approximately six weeks and which con-
sumed vast judicial resources, a farce. This
Court has the power, authority, and jurisdic-
tion to address such wrongful conduct.

DuPont’s conduct was and, in fact, re-
mained during the hearing on the present
petition, subject to censure. It has shown a
lack of respect for the civil justice system in
general, which disrespect was evidenced by
the attitude of DuPont’'s CEO, Mr. Edgar
Woolard, that, and the Court paraphrases,
“When DuPont says what the science means,
that is what the science is.” No party, be it
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an individual or a corporation, can disregard
the authority of the judicial branch and di-
sempower the American jury. No party, be
it an individual or a corporation, can unilater-
ally decide the evidence.

Put in layperson’s terms, DuPont cheated.
And it cheated consciously, deliberately and
with purpose. DuPont has committed a
fraud on this Court, and this Court concludes
that DuPont should be, indeed must be, se-
verely sanctioned if the integrity of the Court
system is to be preserved.

As is this Court’s practice, at the close of
the Show Cause hearing, the parties were
directed to submit to the Court findings of
fact and conclusions of law, which each party
would propose that the Court enter as its
final findings of fact and conclusions of law.
Each party has submitted extensive pro-
posed findings of fact and conclusions of law
which the Court has carefully considered.
Following such consideration, the Court finds
that DuPont’s proposed findings of fact and
conclusions of law are generally a continua-
tion of the discredited pesitions urged during
the hearing. On the other hand, the Court
finds that the proposed findings of fact and
conclusions of law submitted by the Petition-
ers are essentially trustworthy and correct
and, though while not adopting them in their
entirety, the Court has relied heavily upon
them and, where consistent with the Court’s
findings, has adopted many of them as pro-
posed.

Consistent with the foregoing, the Court
assesses the following sanctions and enters
the following orders:

1. Dupont is directed to send a copy of
this opinion and order to each Plaintiff who
filed an action against DuPont in this court
and is also directed to deliver to each such
Plaintiff a complete copy of all of the Alta
data and documents which were withheld
from production in this court by DuPont.
This action by DuPont shall be completed
within 15 days from the date of entry of this
order.

{371 2(a). On July 6, 1995, the Court
directed Petitioners’ counsel in the underly-
ing Bush Ranch cases to file with the Court
a verified statement of the pretrial and trial
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expenses incurred by the Plaintiffs in those
cases and in all cases that were consolidated
for discovery in this court which were paid
by the Plaintiffs through their counsel.
Plaintiffs’ counsel in the Bush Ranch cases
were further directed to file with the Court a
verified statement of the legal fees incurred
and paid by the Plaintiffs in all of the consoli-
dated cases. Pursuant to those directions
the Court has received a statement of the
amounts requested properly verified and the
Court now determines that the Plaintiffs in
the underlying cases have paid through their
counsel in connection with the preparation
for and the trial of the underlying cases an
amount of $6,843,837.53.

For its discovery abuses in the underlying
and consolidated cases, which abuses pro-
longed the trial of those cases and made a
mockery of the preparation for and the con-
duet of that trial, the Court assesses a sanc-
tion against DuPont in the amount of $6,843,-
837.53.

2(b). The Court determines that an
amount equal to that immediately above
specified in paragraph (a), that being $6,843,-
837.53, should be paid by DuPont as a sane-
tion for the wasted time, inconvenience, and
waste of judicial resources inflicted upon the
Court and the jury for the pretrial and trial
of the consolidated cases.

DuPont is directed to pay the total amount
of the sanctions imposed in the above para-
graphs (a) and (b), that amount being $13,-
687,675.06 into the registry of this court
within 15 days from the date of the entry of
this order. ‘

[38] 3. For its contempt of this: Court in
obtaining the entry of the order: of:August
16, 1993, vacating prior discovery orders of
this Court which’ had been eéntered in the
consolidated cases, and for its continuing con-
tempt evidenced in the show cause hearing,
the Court, as a sanction for-that civil con-
tempt: ) ‘ ,

a) Vacates the order entered in'the consol-
idated cases on August 16, 1993, and rein-
states all orders finding discovery abuse by
DuPont and imposing sanctions on DuPont
prior to the trial of the consolidated cases.

1. Wall Street Journal, May 5, 1995, Section A,

One of those orders so reinstated assesses a
sanction of $1,000,000.00 against DuPont for
the discovery abuse; and

b) Assesses a sanction against DuPont in
the amount of $100,000,000.00.

The Court observes that DuPont in the past
has been unresponsive to and unimpressed
by previous impositions of sanctions in
amounts of $500,000.00 and $1,000,000.00 and
perhaps the amount of this sanction will not
be sufficient to make an impression on the
Respondent, but it is hoped that it will be
sufficient to make a party, even with the
financial resources possessed by DuPont, re-
sponsive to and respectful of the judicial
system of the United States. By entering
the monetary sanctions set forth herein it is
the Court’s purpose to deter DuPont and
others who might likewise engage in such
misconduct from engaging in such egregious
discovery practices in the future and to deter
it and others from committing similar frauds
upon this or any other Court.

The Court takes judicial notice of a com-
monly known fact (which was referred to
during the testimony of DuPont’s Chief Ex-
ecutive Officer) that while the hearing in this
matter was in progress DuPont caused to be
published in the Wall Street Journall a full
page advertisement which contained the fol-
lowing statement:

We categorically deny any and all alle-

gations that DuPont has improperly

withheld information, either in the
courtroom or elsewhere. From the out-
set of this unfortunate situation, we
have acted honorably, within the judi-

“cial process, with our customers, and in

“full accord with the law. :

The Court will permit DuPort to purge
itself of the $1,000,000.00 sanction imposed
by Section 3(a) above and the $100,000,000.00
sanction imposed by Section 3(b) above by
complying with all of the other orders herein
imposed upon DuPont and by further pub-
lishing a full page advertisement in the Wall
Street Journal and in the most widely circu-
lated newspaper in the state of Georgia and
in the state of Alabama and in the state of
Michigan, acknowledging its wrongdoing and
giving notice of these orders and sanctions in
a form to be approved by the Court. These

p- 5.
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publications to occur within 20 days of the
date of this order. DuPont is required to
elect whether or not to purge the sanctions
referred to within 15 days of the date of this
order and to notify the Court of its election
within that time, and if it elects not to purge
the sanctions then DuPont is directed to
deposit into the registry of the court the total
of the two sanctions, that being $101,000,-
000.00, within 15 days of the date of this
order.

4. DuPont is directed to file on or before
25 days from the date of this order a certifi-
cate of compliance signed by its Chief Execu-
tive Officer stating that DuPont is in full
compliance with all sections of this order.
For each day thereafter that DuPont is not
in compliance with all of the terms of this
order DuPont will be directed to pay into the
registry of this court, as a further sanction
for its fraud upon this Court and for its
noncompliance with the provisions of this
order, an amount of $30,000 per day until
such certificate of compliance is so filed by
its Chief Executive Officer and such compli-
ance has in fact been accomplished.

In the post-hearing submissions to the
Court the Petitioners have suggested that
the Court receive input from the Petitioners
concerning the potential disposition of any
funds received by the Court as a result of
any monetary sanction or sanctions which
might be imposed by the Court, such disposi-
tion to possibly include a number of public
purposes as well as those persons and enti-
ties directly affected by DuPont’s conduct.
The Court will hereafter set a hearing date
at which it will address, among other things,
disposition of any funds ordered paid by
DuPont into the registry of the court, and
the assessment of court costs, attorneys fees,
and expenses associated with this show cause
proceeding and imposition of sanctions.

This order is an interim order and not a
final order, and the Court hereby expressly
reserves jurisdiction over the parties and all
matters herein pending further orders of this
court.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

W
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CAPITAL CITY INSURANCE
CO., Plaintiff,

V.

RICK TAYLOR TIMBER CO. INC;
Mark C. Medders; Terry W. Crews; In-
terstate Indemnity Co.; Billy Davis;
Morgan Drive Away, Inc.; Empire Fire
and Marine Insurance Co., Defendants.

Civil A. No. CV594-19.

United States District Court,
S.D. Georgia,
Wayecross Division.

Sept. 15, 1995.

Business automobile insurer sought de-
claratory judgment that it had no duty to
defend or indemnify employee or insured in
suit arising out of accident oceurring while
employee was driving insured’s truck. On
defendants’ motions for summary judgment,
the District Court, Moore, J., held that: (1)
insurer could not deny coverage to insured
for material misrepresentations that were
not contained in insurance contract or papers
attached thereto; (2) insurer had taken posi-
tion inconsistent with legal defense of fraud
in inducement and was estopped from assert-
ing fraud as basis for voiding policy ab initio;
and (3) parol evidence as to insured’s alleged
agreement not to allow employee to drive
vehicle as condition for issuance of renewal
policy was not admissible for purpose of clar-
ification.

Motion for summary judgment granted.

1. Insurance ¢=285.2(1)

Business automobile insurance policy
was not void ab initio under Georgia law for
material misrepresentation, even though in-
sured had agreed as condition to issuance of
renewal policy that employee with bad driv-
ing record would not drive any of its trucks,
where insurer and insured did not incorpo-



